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About 2022

In March 2022, we were delighted to celebrate
ENBD REIT’s five year anniversary since listing on
Nasdaq Dubai. We achieved many milestones during
this period, including raising significant capital
during the IPO and deploying it in year one into
yielding assets in line with our investment strategy,
refinancing our debt twice on significantly better
commercial terms each time, and fostering excellent
relationships with our key business partners,
including our shareholders under the leadership of
the Board of Directors and committees.
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ENBD REIT in brief
Based in Dubai, ENBD REIT is a Shari‘a compliant real estate investment trust investing directly in income generating
properties, with a focus on the UAE. In March 2017, ENBD REIT‘s ordinary shares were offered for trading on Nasdaq
Dubai, under ticker symbol ENBDREIT. The REIT’s investment holdings represent a diverse portfolio, covering office,
residential and alternative real estate assets.

Financial performance (April 2021 - March 2022)
31,955,199

ENBD REIT is managed by Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited (the “Fund Manager“), which is one of the
leading asset managers in the GCC, with USD 6.1 billion in assets under management across a range of public funds
and discretionary portfolios. The Fund Manager is a wholly owned subsidiary of Emirates NBD Bank PJSC, one of the
MENA region’s largest banks.

Office
•
•
•

The Edge Building (Dubai Internet City)
Al Thuraya Tower 1 (Dubai Media City)
Burj Daman (two and a half floors,
Dubai International Financial Centre
(DIFC))
DHCC 49 (Dubai Healthcare City)
DHCC 25 (Dubai Healthcare City)

•
•

Residential
•
•
•

Binghatti Terraces (Dubai Silicon Oasis
(DSO))
Arabian Oryx House (Barsha Heights)
Al Ramth 57 & 59, Remraam
(Dubailand)

9,516,103

(3,149,050)

Alternative
•
•
•

(17,733,167)

Uninest (Dubailand)
South View School (Dubailand)
Souq Extra Retail Centre (Dubai Silicon
Oasis (DSO)

(51,296,326)

Properties

11

4.30

54%

WAULT (years)

Portfolio
segmentation

(20,108,279)

(39,449,406)

The purpose of the REIT is to provide investors with a professionally managed means of participating in the United Arab Emirates
(“UAE”) institutional real estate market. The primary investment objective of ENBD REIT is to achieve regular rental income and longterm capital growth from a diversified portfolio of commercial, residential, and alternative properties. All investments by the REIT are
made in compliance with Shari’a guidelines, as defined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board.

80%

(4,443,419)

(10,810,472)

Gross income

Occupancy

11,846,920

USD

As at 31st March 2022, ENBD REIT held 11 assets across Dubai:

27,289,270

LTV ratio

Total expenses

Net rental
income / FFO

Unrealised

April – March 2021-2022

Cashflow
hedge

Net loss

April – March 2020-2021

Net yield

5.7%
Property portfolio value

USD

356m

69% 14% 17%
Offices:

Residential:

Alternative:

As at 31st March 2021
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Overcoming challenges through
active asset management
It has been a challenging few years for ENBD REIT and the overall real estate industry,
during which numerous obstacles had to be overcome in order to maintain the portfolio
that has been subject to continued downward pressure in regards to valuations,
occupancy, and rental yields. However, throughout the course of the past financial year, we
finally began to witness gradual signs of stabilisation in valuations, a promising indicator
that the worst of the COVID-19 pandemic is now behind us and the overall market is
beginning to improve.
Despite prolonged soft market conditions, particularly
in the earlier half of the year, overall occupancy levels
remained stable across the portfolio and further
improved in recent months, thanks to increased leasing
activity and demand from tenants, predominantly in
the residential sector. Throughout the year, we also
maintained an active yet cautious asset management
approach to promote the portfolio’s attractiveness, while
continuing to safeguard occupancy and gross revenue
by lowering rental rates and incentivising potential new
tenants wherever possible.
To drive recovery and enhance the value of the existing
portfolio, we took proactive steps by investing in major
asset refurbishments and certifications. Some examples
include undertaking extensive upgrades to Al Thuaraya
Tower 1, our largest refurbishment project to date, as
well as obtaining the prestigious LEED Gold Certification
for The Edge Building, our largest property by value,
which evidences our efforts in implementing practical
and measurable sustainability initiatives within our
assets.
At the end of last year, we announced the completion of
the revised lease negotiations with Uninest, the student
accommodation building, providing us with improved
visibility on cash flow going forward, albeit at lower
rental levels. At the same time, we also refinanced our

entire debt with a syndicated facility worth USD 200
million through Emirates NBD and Commercial Bank of
Dubai, in line with our strategy to reduce finance costs
and manage covenants.
In March 2022, we were delighted to celebrate ENBD
REIT’s five year anniversary since listing on Nasdaq
Dubai. We achieved many milestones during this
period, including raising significant capital during the
IPO and deploying it in one year into yielding assets in
line with our investment strategy, refinancing our debt
twice on significantly better commercial terms each
time, and fostering excellent relationships with our key
business partners, including our shareholders under the
leadership of the Board of Directors and committees.
We are also very proud to have maintained consistent
income generation and dividend payments throughout
the past five years, thanks to our proactive asset and
cost management strategies and strong commitment to
delivering returns for shareholders.
This year’s Annual Report will provide a detailed
overview of the strategic initiatives mentioned above,
as well as the market dynamics that have influenced the
management team’s strategy over the past year. It will
also identify key areas of focus that will be part of the
REIT’s strategy and future activities.

Edge
10
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Chairman’s
statement

“

In a real estate market that presented continuing challenges, ENBD REIT took many
active and effective measures in the 2021-22 financial year that protected and enhanced
the value of our business and portfolio. From completing extensive building upgrades
to refinancing our debt and achieving a material lease renegotiation, we effectively
prepared the ground for ENBD REIT to fully benefit from any upturn in market conditions
later in 2022 and beyond. We were also pleased to see our net asset value and portfolio
valuations stabilising towards the end of this financial year following a sustained period
of negative market sentiment.
During the year we also celebrated the 5th anniversary of
our listing on Nasdaq Dubai. A bell-ringing ceremony at the
exchange in March 2022 provided a fitting opportunity for
ENBD REIT to reflect on the journey over this period. Every year
since our IPO in 2017, with 2021-22 being no exception, we
have consistently strived to deliver on our investment strategy
in spite of prolonged market headwind.
In the first year after our listing, we deployed the capital
raised by adding four new assets, including a development
asset, bringing the total to 11 across the office, residential and
alternative sectors. This diversified and solid portfolio has been
the bedrock of our progress ever since. Every year we have
prioritized a rigorous focus on costs, while also making every
effort to maintain the attractiveness of our assets and ensure
optimum levels of occupancy backed by favourable leasing
terms that meet our requirements in the long and short term.
This has sometimes been a difficult balancing act, notably
in 2020 and 2021 during the worst period of the COVID-19
pandemic when we undertook considerable expenditure
designed to maintain our occupancy targets and provided
relief measures for tenants impacted by the disruption. We are
delighted that throughout this period we have been able to
maintain positive cash flows together with consistent dividend
payments to shareholders, including at the end of this financial
year under review.
The volatile market conditions over the years since we
listed on the region’s international exchange have required
us to implement many far-reaching measures to support
our business and remain aligned with our shareholders’
requirements. These have included two rounds of refinancing,
including a very successful transaction in late 2021, as well as
a share buyback programme and a carefully timed adjustment
of our management fees to align with our investors during
the pandemic. I believe our efforts have gone a long way to
maintain positive cashflows and mitigate potential losses

12

ENBD REIT took
many active
and effective
measures in
the 2021-22
financial year
that protected
and enhanced
the value of our
business and
portfolio

and I am very grateful to all our stakeholders, including our
shareholders, business partners, tenants and staff, for their
valuable support since 2017. We are well positioned to deliver
value for all of them in the future.
The immediate outlook in the Dubai real estate sector remains
mixed, with encouraging signs of revival in residential property
that could potentially spread to other areas of the market
if macro conditions remain favourable. We are fortunate to
operate in a legal, regulatory and taxation environment that has
been beneficial for us so far, and we have every confidence that
it will remain so, to enable us to take advantage of an upturn
when it does occur.

”

It has been a privilege for ENBD REIT over the years to have
played a pioneering role in the development of the REIT market
in the UAE and the region. As one of the first REITs to list,
we have provided the opportunity for many investors to gain
exposure to the institutional real estate market for the first
time, without directly acquiring property. We have also been
pleased to see the steady growth of the listed REIT sector in the
region. In coming years, the enormous experience that we have
gained as a listed company in the real estate market will stand
us in good stead as we optimise our portfolio, manage and
upgrade our assets, negotiate with lenders and tenants, and
interact with our shareholders. We will make the most of our
extensive expertise to build on our progress so far and further
develop ENBD REIT into one of the most thriving and successful
entities in the UAE property sector.

Tariq Bin Hendi
Chairman

We have provided the opportunity for many
investors to gain exposure to the institutional
real estate market for the first time, without
directly acquiring property.

5th

anniversary of our listing
on Nasdaq Dubai
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Key highlights
since IPO

2017-18

2018-19

March
IPO on Nasdaq Dubai raising
USD 105 million

April
Announcement of energy
saving programme

May
Acquisition of Dubai’s first
purpose-built student
accommodation

July
Official opening of Souq Extra
Retail Centre

August
Acquisition of South View
School, ENBD REIT’s first
education asset
October
Acquisition of The Edge office
building
October
ENBD REIT announces it has
fully deployed all capital
raised by IPO
December
Acquisition of Souq Extra
community retail centre in
Dubai Silicon Oasis

14

November
USD 75 million in debt
funding secured from
Standard Chartered Bank
December
South View School formally
inaugurated in Dubai’s
Remraam Community
February
ENBD REIT announces
completion of its reduction
of share capital and
commencement of its share
buyback programme

2019-20
July
USD 177 million
financing facility
secured from Mashreq
Bank
September
Completion of share
buy-back programme
January
Proposed restructuring
presented to
shareholders

2020-21
May
Announcement of rent
relief measures for
tenants impacted by
COVID-19
July
Implementation
of Yardi property
management system
August
USD 109 million hedge
secured
September
Refurbishment
upgrades to Al Thuraya
Tower 1 commencing
with the appointment
of Savills and Bluehaus
Group

2021-22
September
Refurbishment upgrades to
Al Thuraya Tower 1 reaching
the halfway stage
December
Announcement of USD 200
million debt refinancing
through Emirates NBD and
Commercial Bank of Dubai
January
Successful renegotiation
of lease with student
accommodation tenant,
Uninest
March
The Edge Building awarded
LEED Gold certification for
by the U.S. Green Building
Council

October
Announcement of lease
renewal by Oracle,
ENBD REIT’s largest
tenant

15
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Market overview
THE FOLLOWING MACROECONOMIC SUMMARY IS PROVIDED BY EMIRATES NBD RESEARCH
UAE PMI

Saudi Arabia PMI

Qatar PMI

65

60

International visitor numbers to Dubai have recovered to around
85% of pre-pandemic levels in the first quarter of this year.
Hotel occupancy averaged 76% in the first four months of 2022,
15 percentage points higher than the same period in 2021,
and hotels have been able to almost double their revenue per
available room over the same timeframe. We expect the rebound
in international tourism to continue this year, supporting the
recovery in the non-oil sectors more broadly.
The real estate sector in Dubai has benefitted from the UAE’s
excellent management of the Covid-19 pandemic which allowed
the country to avoid multiple lockdowns and made it an attractive
destination for expatriates and investors. Low interest rates and
an acceleration in structural reforms over the last couple of years,
including significant visa reform, have also helped the real estate
market to recover over the last year.
The outlook for the UAE and the rest of the GCC is relatively
constructive, even against a deteriorating external backdrop of
slowing growth, high inflation and tightening monetary policy.

45
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Nevertheless, there is still a high level of uncertainty around the
global outlook which may weigh on the non-oil recovery in the
GCC. Developed market central banks have become much more
hawkish in recent weeks as inflation has accelerated on the back
of strong domestic demand, continued supply chain disruptions
and higher energy and food prices.
The market is pricing in another 175bp in rate hikes by the Federal
Reserve by the end of this year, with another 50bp likely in
2023, in addition to a relatively aggressive pace of balance sheet
reduction. Higher borrowing costs are likely to slow private sector
demand in the UAE and we do not expect this to be fully offset by
increased government spending.
Moreover, the strengthening in the USD on the back of the
aggressive tightening in monetary policy by the Fed could erode
competitiveness in the UAE which could weigh on services sector
growth in particular. Overall, we expect non-oil sector growth
to slow this year to around 4% from an estimated 5.3% in 2021,
even as headline GDP accelerates to 5.7% this year on higher oil
production.
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For Dubai in particular, Expo 2020 helped to boost activity over its
duration, and the relaxation of travel restrictions has contributed
to a strong recovery in the tourism and hospitality sector over the
same period.

Real GDP will benefit from sharply higher oil production this
year and into 2023, while high oil prices will help to generate
substantial fiscal surpluses across the region. This will allow
governments to strengthen balance sheets and mitigate some of
the impact of higher global food and energy prices on domestic
consumers and businesses. Indeed, inflation in the region – while
accelerating - remains well below inflation rates seen in developed
economies such as the US, UK, and Eurozone.

50

USD/b

Data for the first four months of 2022 point to a continuation of
the recovery in the non-oil sectors in the UAE and across the GCC.
PMI survey data show strong growth in business activity and new
work in the UAE, Saudi Arabia, and Qatar.

55

PMI

The UAE economy grew by a faster than expected 3.8% in 2021 according to preliminary
estimates, with most of this growth coming from the non-oil sectors as borders reopened,
global growth recovered from the pandemic and restrictions on activity continued to be
eased.

2021e

2021f

2023f

Average brent oil price (Ihs)
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THE FOLLOWING REAL ESTATE MARKET REVIEW HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY CBRE

THE FOLLOWING REAL ESTATE MARKET REVIEW HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY CAVENDISH MAXWELL

Office market
After a prolonged period of subdued performance, underpinned by a glut of supply and
consolidation activity on the part of occupiers, performance in Dubai’s office market is
steadily changing course.
Occupier activity, both from incumbent occupiers and new
entrants, has risen sharply during the last 12 months. During
the first quarter of 2022, data from the Dubai Land Department
shows that a total of 10,835 new commercial office Ejari contracts
(lease contracts) were registered, up 42.9% from a year earlier.
A further 9,678 commercial office Ejari contracts were renewed
over this period, up 11.6% from a year earlier. Overall, the total
number of Ejari contracts registered in Q1 2022, increased
by 26.2% year-on-year. The data shows that whilst new Ejari
registrations outweighed renewals, renewals accounted for 68.9%
of the total area registered.
Despite the significant increase in new Ejari registrations, the new
Ejari registration’s total area registered in the first three months
of 2022 increased by only 10.2% compared to a year earlier.
Therefore, although there have been a number of new occupiers
entering the market, we continue to see the bulk of activity
originating from incumbents consolidating space. However,
most of these occupiers are continuing to seek to improve the

quality of space that they occupy; in a flight to quality, which has
underpinned improved performance in Prime and Grade A assets.
With the delivery of new stock remaining limited, the average
occupancy rate increased in Q1 2022 to 79.8%, up from 76.9%
a year earlier. In the year to Q1 2022, average rents soften in
the Prime, Grade B and Grade C segments of the market by
2.7%, 2.1% and 4.7%, whereas in the Grade A segment of the
market, rents increased by 0.7%. However, in the quarter to Q1
2022, average market rents were either stable or increased in all
segments of the market, with Prime, Grade A, Grade B and Grade
C rents changing by 2.9%, 0.0%, 0.1% and 1.3% respectively.
With institutional grade assets seeing increasing occupancy
levels and the delivery of new stock remaining limited over the
coming year, we expect performance to continue to improve. It
is important to note that performance is expected to fragment,
with best-in-class assets expected to materially outperform the
market.

Residential Market
Market fundamentals remained resilient despite international tensions and inflationary
pressures. The high quality of residential developments in Dubai coupled with the
city’s international reputation as a safe haven helped the market benefit from current
movements and capital allocations and, as a result, Dubai saw an influx of Ukrainian and
Russian investment particularly in the high-end segment of the market in the last few months.
The Dubai Land Department’s (DLD) recent efforts to make real
estate data publicly available and to strengthen transparency is
expected to add to the appeal of the market to a wider mix of
international investors. The DLD previously signed memoranda
of understanding with companies focused on smart real estate
solutions to shift the market towards a data driven future and
further enhance the position of the Dubai real estate market globally.
The residential market witnessed a recovery during 2021, with
solid growth in prices in the last 12 months. Property values have
overall been on an upward trajectory since October 2020, with
only a slight decrease of less than 1% during November 2021.
In the first four months of the year, prices increased by 1.47%,
1.12%, 0.54%, and 0.76% month on month, with the current
average sale price standing at AED 1,014 per sq ft. This compares
with AED 895 per sq ft at the corresponding point last year,
equating to 13% increase year on year. At the community level,
the greatest monthly price appreciation was reported in Jumeirah
Village Triangle Apartments (+6.96% at the end of April).
The rebound in activity was also reflected in a significant rise in
the number of deals. A total of 61,758 transactions completed
between April 2021 and March 2022, a 99% increase on the same
period last year. There has also been a resurgence in off plan
market. The market share of off plan transactions reached 46%

Al Thuraya Tower
18

in the last 12 months, up from 39% in the preceding year. This is
set to increase further, with several key developments currently
under construction and scheduled for delivery throughout the year.
Rental yields steadily compressed throughout 2021 and remained
mainly below 6% in the last 12 months, compared with an
average of 6.5% for most of 2020. This trend is expected to
continue as the pace of rental rates is yet to find consistency
against that of sales price appreciation. In terms of rental yields by
property type, yields averaged 4.84%, 5.50% and 6.82% for villas,
townhouses, and apartments respectively in April.
In terms of supply, over 50,000 residential units are anticipated
to be added to the market in 2022. However, based on historical
materialisation rate, only 40% of the supply is expected to be
handed over on time, with the remainder either scaled back or
delayed.
Looking ahead, villa and apartment sales are expected to remain
strong while headwinds are likely to be centred around interest
rate rises and increased inflation, reducing household disposable
income. Entry to the high end of the market may therefore
remain a challenge for some buyers. However, the continued
influx of international money should offset the impact of this and
support sales in the coming months.

Al Thuraya Tower
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THE FOLLOWING REAL ESTATE MARKET REVIEW HAS BEEN PROVIDED BY KNIGHT FRANK

Retail and Education Market
The Dubai retail market has largely been influenced by various factors, including the
following:
•

•

•

•

Consumer Preferences: Over recent years, the retail market
has been witnessing a growing trend towards sustainable
consumerism as well as discounted products (e.g. outlet
stores, B2C trade events like Concept Big Brands Sale etc.) as
consumers face affordability constraints.
Government Initiatives: The retail team under Dubai
Festivals and Retail Establishment (DFRE) actively promote
retail events on Dubai’s calendar to encourage continued
consumer spending such as Dubai Shopping Festival (DSF)
and Dubai Summer Surprises (DSS).
Tourism: The Dubai market witnessed a rebound in tourism
post COVID, as the government of Dubai eased travel
restrictions relatively quickly and the sector has recorded
3.97 million visitors in Q1 2022.
Consumer Spending: Retail spend has typically amounted to
40% - 42% of total consumer spend. Between 2021 and 2035,
Dubai’s retail and consumer spending are expected to grow
at a CAGR of 2.6% and 2.5% respectively.

Currently, rental market performance remains under pressure
as a “tenant driven” market continues to dominate, as a result
Tenants are continuously looking for more flexible lease terms,
zero escalation periods, capex contribution and other such
incentives. Going forward, in terms of supply, it is estimated that
an additional 2.6m sqft of retail space (Cagr of 4.4%) is expected
to enter the market by 2024 in the form of regional and super
regional supply. Majority of the new supply is within emerging
areas of the city such as Jumeirah Village Triangle, Nad Al Shiba
Third, Business Bay and Meydan. On the other hand, Dubai’s retail
demand is expected to grow at a CAGR of 3.4% over the same
period, which will result in added pressure on the occupancy
levels within the formal retail segment.
Retail developers in Dubai are increasingly focused on
incorporating quality offerings, providing experiential retail and
securing the optimal mix of retail, F&B and leisure components
into their developments to ensure they attract footfall and remain
competitive in the face of growing interest in e-commerce and
evolving consumer preferences.

Education Sector

The Emirate of Dubai has the highest private sector participation
in the world within the education space, this is due to the
conducive environment created by the government and efforts of
Knowledge & Human Development Authority (KHDA). In terms
of student composition, in 2020/21 approximately 90.4% of the
students were enrolled in the private sector and the public sector
accounting for 9.6%. In terms of infrastructure (# of schools), the
public sector contribution was 24.2%. The disproportion between
private sector students and school’s vs public sector is because
the private sector houses more students compared to public
sector schools. Factors influencing increasing popularity of private
schools:
• Quantum of expatriate population,
• Limited accessibility to public sector,
• Emirati families see the value proposition of private schools,
• Better quality of education.
According to the KHDA, as of Spring 2021/2022, Dubai’s private
schools have a total of 303,262 students enrolled in 215 schools.
It is important to note, that 14,100 students were enrolled
between Autumn and Spring of 2021/22, representing an increase
of 4.9%. There are a total of 18 different curriculums at offer in
the Dubai’s private education landscape of which UK, Indian and
US curricula are the three most popular curricula and educate
approximately 77% of the private student population. During the
last 3 academic years a total of 21 new schools were established
and 7 schools were faced with closure (this includes schools
merged), of the new schools 10 commenced operations in
academic year 2021-22 adding a total of 14,671 additional seats.
With the addition of schools in the recent years, the private
sector sits at a capacity utilisation of 71%, which has allowed
parents with choices in terms of fee points, location and curricula.
This in turn has put pressure on school operators as they are
finding it challenging to maintain and improve their enrolment
levels, coupled with this, for academic year 2022/2023, KHDA has
denied schools from increasing tuition fees for the academic year
2022/2023 which has directly impacted their bottom line.

Burj Daman
20
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Management report
Letter from the management

Building on the achievements of the previous year, ENBD REIT’s team continued to drive
occupancy and rental income whilst managing expenses to position itself to take full
advantage of the stabilisation trend which started to materialise towards the end of the
2021-22 financial year.
The first indications of stabilisation came through in the
residential market, followed by an increase in enquiries relating
to office space. We also received an increase in the number of
enquiries expressing interest in purchasing our assets during
the year, though none was sufficiently compelling to reach
fruition. Our sentiment has remained cautious, and we have
continued to focus on enhancing the quality of our assets,
maintaining our relationships with tenants and consolidating
our financial strength.
This was reflected in our portfolio valuation which stabilised at
USD 356 million at the end of the financial year compared to
USD 360 million at the end of the previous year, and our Net
Asset Value which stood at USD 167 million compared to USD
180 million.
Whilst changes in valuation approach in December 2021 in
line with regulations had a positive impact on valuations,
occupancy improved slightly to 80% at the end of the year from
76% in the previous period, with residential property almost
100% occupied. The overall occupancy rate remained below
target due mainly to the upgrades to our flagship Al Thuraya
Tower 1 building which was completed near the end of the
financial year, enabling us to recommence marketing of these
units. We also completed refurbishments of the DHCC 49
and 25 properties. All the buildings are now significantly more
marketable to tenants.
After ending the prior year at a Weighted Average Unexpired
Lease Term (WAULT) of 4.09 years, ENBD REIT’s WAULT closed
higher standing at 4.30 years at the end of March 2022. We
have made increasing this figure a priority to provide us with
long-term stability and we are delighted by the progress
achieved.
In December 2021, we announced a landmark refinancing of
a USD 200 million sharia-compliant facility with Emirates NBD
and Commercial Bank of Dubai, which greatly strengthens our
financial underpinning. The new 5-year facility has replaced
our debt of USD 45 million with Standard Chartered Bank
and USD 150 million with Mashreq Bank on favourable terms
including an improved profit margin that is expected to lead to
USD 7 million of savings over the full term. Our thanks go to
our previous lenders for the support they showed us during a
challenging period, and to our new financial partners for the

confidence they have shown in ENBD REIT. Our Loan to Value
(LTV) ratio ended the year at 54% compared to 52% at the end
of the previous period.
Our focus on streamlining costs achieved further results with
operating expenses down 11% due to the active and efficient
management of assets, while fund expenses were down 19%.
The latter figure benefited from the successful conclusion of
our lease negotiations with Uninest, a student accommodation
provider whose business was disrupted by the pandemic. The
new terms include a combination of a lower fixed rent with a
variable rent based on turnover over the life of the new 10year lease. Overall, this is a favourable outcome for ENBD REIT,
though it did contribute to a drop in funds from operations
(FFO) during the year to USD 9.5 million from USD 11.8 million
at the end of the previous year. FFO was also affected by the
debt refinancing with Emirates NBD and Commercial Bank of
Dubai, which included expenses of USD 1.4 million including the
unwinding of the hedge linked to the previous Mashreq Bank
facility.
The careful stewardship of our assets and management of costs
enabled us to maintain our track record of making dividend
distributions to shareholders from FFO. The final distribution
for the six month period ending of March 2022 amounted to
USD 5.0 million or USD 0.0200 per share, compared to USD 4.4
million or USD 0.0176 for the same period in the previous year.
Total dividends for the financial year 2021-22 amounted to USD
9.5 million or USD 0.0380 per share, 2.70% increase from the
previous year.
Along with many other businesses in Dubai, we benefited from
the continued astute management of the pandemic by the
Dubai and UAE governments, including their support for the
continuation of all commercial activity, such as the successful
Expo 2020 which bolstered the positive momentum for the
region and bodes well for the period ahead.
As we enter the next five years of our story, I would like to take
this opportunity to extend my gratitude to the Board, various
committees, business partners, advisors, lending banks, staff,
authorities and shareholders for their continued support
throughout this period and for their role in maintaining a
positive environment in which we are ready to grow.

Anthony Taylor

Head of Real Estate
22

“

After ending the
prior year at a
Weighted Average
Unexpired Lease
Term (WAULT) of
4.09 years,
ENBD REIT’s WAULT
closed higher
standing at 4.30
years at the end of
March 2022.

”

Our focus on streamlining costs achieved further results with operating
expenses down 11% due to the active and efficient management of assets,
while fund expenses were down 19%.
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Our strategy in 2021-22 was maintained and focused on an active yet cautious approach
to managing the 11 properties within our portfolio and costs in line with the lower
gross revenue. Property operating expenses were down 11% this year (excluding capital
expenditure relating to refurbishment upgrades to the portfolio in order to maintain and
improve occupancy).
We delivered considerable improvements across the board and
are pleased to report that our total property portfolio value
stood at USD 356 million, down slightly by 1.2% on the previous
year but stabilising when compared to previous years. The NAV
at USD 0.67, decreasing by 7.4% from the previous year.
Seeking improvement in occupancy rates is key to our strategic
growth and objectives. The upturn to 80% across our portfolio
from 76% at the end of 2020-21 was a welcome increase,
though the figure remained below pre-pandemic levels. The
improvement was in line with an increase in enquiries from
prospective tenants, notably in the residential sector, where
we have raised total occupancy across our three buildings by
22% when compared to the end of the previous year, without
any significant softening of rents. Valuations of the residential
properties also stabilised towards the end of year. Our five
office properties showed a slightly weaker valuation trend, in
line with the overall Dubai market which continues to steer our
decision to accept lower rental rates for some tenants, typically
with a trade-off for longer-term lease contracts. Occupancy
across our office properties was 72% at the end of the year
compared to 70% the year before and we are addressing this
lower occupancy head on through a series of strategic asset
upgrades and incentives to new tenants to improve leasability
and tenant demand within our office buildings.
The four main pillars of ENBD REIT’s strategy in 2021-22 were:
• Active asset management and enhancement of the existing
portfolio through strategic upgrades
• Balance occupancy and gross revenue with fixed costs
management
• Assess asset recycling opportunities to redeploy into new
assets and/or to lower LTV
• Manage financial position including covenants and finance
costs

Asset management and strategic refurbishments

Much of our efforts over the last year were devoted to
upgrading and refurbishing assets to ensure that we reap the
fullest benefits of an eventual upturn in the real estate market.
After taking a strategic decision in 2020 to refurbish Al Thuraya
Tower 1 in Dubai Media City, we successfully completed the
project in early 2022. The work on this cornerstone asset in our
portfolio, accounting for 19% of its value, included repurposing
the first floor and outdoor podium to include common facilities,
installing more efficient lifts, and refreshing lift lobbies, toilets
and corridors. With occupancy having dropped as low as 36%
due to the disruption, we are now able to offer more readily
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available office space in the tower to tenants once again. The
enhanced appeal and quality of the building should improve
tenant demand and may enable us to charge a premium
over the rents that could previously be achieved once the
building occupancy begins to improve. Earlier in 2021 we also
completed upgrades to two other office buildings, DHCC 49
and DHCC 25, including refurbishments to ground floor lobbies
that significantly improved their appearance, as well as at
Burj Daman, where we created smaller, fully fitted offices for
businesses looking for ready-to-move spaces with less initial
capital requirements.
These projects have required significant investments which
we believe will be repaid in coming years by tenants who
appreciate superior quality, design, and functionality. Our
commitment to these buildings reflects the care and attention
that we show to all our assets across our portfolio. During
the year The Edge Building, the largest asset by value in our
portfolio, was awarded the prestigious LEED Gold certification
by the U.S. Green Building Council in recognition of its
sustainability in areas including energy use, water, waste
management and indoor environmental quality and tenant
satisfaction levels.

market in instances where this would add value. We will also
consider rebalancing our portfolio mix, which is currently 69%
office assets by value, 17% alternative and 14% residential.
One route to achieving this would be through the disposal of
certain assets followed by acquisitions that match our optimal
portfolio mix targets. The interest that we received from the
market in some of our assets increased in 2021-22 and we will
look closely at any future approaches that balance the value
unlock with the injection of capital into our business. We will also
stay alert to any possibilities of purchasing attractive assets in
various market sectors, with the proceeds of any such disposals
that offer an attractive combination of yield and capital value
appreciation potential.

Driving occupancy and managing costs

Alternatively, we would consider applying the proceeds of any
asset sale towards reducing our LTV, targeting below 50% from
the current 54%. Other strategic initiatives include the monitoring
of the interest rate environment which may result in the hedging
of our interest rate exposure to manage our risk, depending on
macroeconomic conditions and our own circumstances.
As we pursue our policy of increasing occupancy rates, supported
by our building upgrades and astute management of all our
assets, we will maintain our focus on streamlining operating, fund
and finance costs. A careful approach to our fixed costs combined
with the refinancing of a USD 200 million sharia-compliant facility
with Emirates NBD and Commercial Bank of Dubai during the year
have greatly strengthened our financial position and set us well
for the medium term.

Outlook for 2022 - 23

The pandemic has demonstrated the importance of securing
reliable and predictable revenues to mitigate against volatility
in the market. While this has always been fundamental to our
strategy, we will step up our commitment in this regard in a
variety of ways. These include focusing strongly on our WAULT
to achieve further increases beyond the 4.30 years achieved at
the end of 2021-22, which already represents a considerable
improvement over recent years.
We will also look particularly closely at the strength of the
covenants in our leases to ensure that they provide us with
sufficient protection in a wide range of circumstances. Active
cost management and ensuring a strong financial position will
remain key focus areas for the management team. This in turn
will support our aim to not only maintain consistent dividend
payments, which we have done since listing regardless of the
challenges faced, but more importantly improve the distribution
levels that we are able to provide to shareholders, aligned with
our regulatory obligation to distribute at least 80% of audited net
income.
With the UAE taxation landscape going through a period of
change, we will also maintain the dialogue that we are conducting
with government, industry, and regulatory authorities regarding
treatment of REITs. We are confident that the government will
maintain appropriate measures in line with taxation best practice
around the world.
ENBD REIT’s portfolio strategy is focused on high-quality assets,
with an optimum portfolio mix as summarised below:

Uninest contract renewal

The renegotiation of our lease with Uninest was another
strategic decision aimed at providing stability and certainty to
our income stream. The long-term prospects for growing rental
receipts have been negotiated into this new lease structure
though a variable turnover rent derived and calculated from
the operator’s performance as a business in the future. We
believe this structure with the lower fixed rent agreed should
enable the tenant to continue making reliable rental payments.
The approach to our relationship with Uninest also reflects our
philosophy of engaging constructively with tenants, for the
benefit of all parties. In this case the issue was related to the
COVID-19 pandemic, but the principle is also applicable in a
variety of other situations.

Office 50-60%
Residential 15-20%
Alternative 25-35%

Maintaining an optimal asset mix

Ensuring that we are benefiting from an optimal mix of
properties across our portfolio is also key to our strategy of
locking in secure rental revenues at the right level of returns.
The pandemic has demonstrated how different sections of
the market can be affected in very divergent ways in times
of volatility. Through the upgrades of three buildings that we
completed in the latest financial year, we have made clear our
intention to adjust our portfolio towards the higher end of the
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Asset upgrades in focus
Since the onset of the pandemic, an increasing number of tenants in the office segment
are now requiring smaller, more adaptable, and modernised office spaces that are more
closely aligned with flexible working hours and streamlined working environments.
Moreover, the challenges faced by landlords over the past few years has given them a
strategic opportunity to take a closer look at each property, and identify any upgrades
that are required to improve leasing performance in Dubai’s post-pandemic real estate
market.

DHCC 25 and DHCC 49

In July and August 2020, ENBD REIT completed a range of
refurbishment works at DHCC 25 and DHCC 49, two of its
properties in the office portfolio located in Dubai Healthcare
City. Both assets received a full lobby refurbishment, including
entrances, flooring, ceiling, lighting, painting, and wall décor.
The upgrades aim to modernise and rejuvenate the aesthetics of
the building to benefit the existing tenants and make it attractive
rental option for businesses in and around the surrounding area.

Burj Daman

As an increasing number of corporates and smaller businesses
look to downsize and create flexible office spaces that are more
in tune with working conditions in a post-pandemic world, ENBD
REIT completed several sub-division upgrades at Burj Daman,
its asset located in DIFC, in February 2021. The upgrades were
undertaken to create smaller, fully-fitted units that aim to reduce
both costs and space requirements for businesses interested in
ready-to-move spaces at lower capital costs.

In light of this, ENBD REIT management adopted a proactive approach to asset
refurbishments, taking advantage of the lower occupancy in order to minimise noise and
disruption to existing tenants. From the beginning of 2021 to March 2022, a total of five
assets in the portfolio have been upgraded – Al Thuraya Tower 1, The Edge, DHCC25,
DHCC49, and Burj Daman. The ongoing improvements are closely aligned with ENBD
REIT’s asset management strategy, which aims to increase the value of the portfolio,
support future improvements in occupancy, and ensure tenant satisfaction.
Al Thuraya Tower 1

The largest refurbishment project initiated in 2021 was at Al
Thuraya Tower 1 in Dubai Media City, ENBD REIT’s largest asset
by area. Despite being the cornerstone of the company’s
portfolio and revenue for the past 15 years, the building has
seen significant pressure on occupancy, and as such a major
upgrade was approved by ENBD REIT’s Board of Directors in a
bid to transform the asset into a working destination of choice,
and to offer tenants an aesthetically pleasing and modern
environment that is comfortable to work in and promotes the
wellbeing and productivity of staff.
Project managers and cost consultants, Savills, interior
designers, Bluehaus Group and interior contractor, KPS,
completed a comprehensive fit-out of the building in March
2022. Upgrades throughout the 24-storey building include:
•
•
•
•

•
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Revamped foyer and entrance to the building, including
ground floor lobby and all other lift lobbies
Refurbished corridors, staircases, and common bathrooms,
including lighting and tiling
Improved layout and décor, access, and internal facilities,
such as bathrooms, for people of determination
Repurposed first floor and outdoor podium levels, to
include common facilities, including prayer rooms, meeting
rooms, a fitness and yoga studio, shower facilities, and an
outdoor seating area
Special measures to promote a healthy, clean, and safe
environment, including the WELL Health Safety Rating for
Al Thuraya Tower 1, which certifies buildings for wellbeing,
health, hygiene, and safety, in light of the COVID-19
pandemic

•

Upgraded fire escapes to improve health and safety control
measures
• Addition of new and enhanced lift systems with destination
control to reduce waiting time
Now that the refurbishment has been completed, the focus
has turned to marketing the property to increase the low
occupancy and position the asset as a high-quality venue for
long-term business tenants.

The Edge Building

The Edge Building, ENBD REIT’s largest asset by value in the
portfolio located in Dubai Internet City, was awarded the
prestigious LEED Gold certification in March 2022 as part
of its efforts in adopting sustainable practices to reduce the
environmental footprint of assets. LEED (Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design), developed by the U.S. Green
Building Council (USGBC), is the most widely used green
building rating system in the world and an international symbol
of excellence in sustainability.
The LEED Gold certification is a true testimony of ENBD REIT’s
efforts around sustainable building management, as well as
the building’s initial energy efficient design and construction.
By using eco-friendly initiatives and solutions in areas including
energy, water, waste management, indoor environmental
quality among others, the building consumes 25% to 30% less
energy compared to conventional buildings worldwide.
In line with the UAE government’s vision to make Dubai a
sustainable city, ENBD REIT plans to roll out similar sustainability
strategies in the future across its other assets in the portfolio
to become a leading example of sustainability in the UAE real
estate market.
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Performance
summary
As at 31st March 2022, the total value of ENBD REIT’s property portfolio stood at USD
356 million, down 1.1% on the previous year whilst Gross Asset Value (GAV) decreased
2.1% to USD 367 million and NAV decreased 7.4% to USD 167 million or USD 0.67 per
share due to capital expenditure on the buildings and an accounting liability relating to
the cross currency profit rate swap.
During the year, ENBD REIT paid an interim dividend of USD
0.0180 per share – amounting to USD 4,500,000 (2.74% of
NAV and 4.09% per share on the prevailing share price as
at 30th September 2021). The Board of Directors proposed
a final dividend of USD 5,000,000 or USD 0.02 per share, a
13.6% increase from the same period of 2021. This brings
the total dividend payable to shareholders for the year to
USD 9,500,000, a 2.7% increase from previous year. The total
dividend return for the year is equivalent to 5.7% of NAV and
8.8% of the share price as at the 31st March 2022.
Despite challenging market conditions, ENBD REIT’s active yet
cautious asset management strategy helped balance occupancy
rates, which stood at 80% at year-end compared to 76% in
2021. In addition, ENBD REIT also successfully renegotiated the
lease renewal with Uninest at the end of 2021 and finalised the
refurbishments to Al Thuraya Tower 1 in April 2022. As a result,
the combined portfolio’s WAULT now stands at 4.30 years
compared to 4.09 years in 2021.
Although the contract renewal with Uninest is a positive
development, it contributed to a decrease in FFO during the

year to USD 9.5 million from USD 11.8 million at the end of
the previous year. FFO was further impacted by the successful
debt refinancing on favourable terms with Emirates NBD and
Commercial Bank of Dubai, which comprised expenses of USD
1.4 million due to one-off costs of refinancing.
The total leasable area across the 11 properties was 1.29
million sq. ft., with no acquisitions or disposals taking place
during the year. ENBD REIT will continue to consider any
attractive opportunities for asset disposals or acquisitions that
would support management’s LTV targets as well as ensure an
optimal portfolio mix.
ENBD REIT’s focus on streamlining costs and active
management resulted in a 10.9% drop in operating expenses.
Fund expenses also decreased 19.3%, as management fees
were aligned to the lower NAV and no additional provisions
having to be made in the year. Finance costs also dropped 6.4%
from the previous year, resulting in a total expense saving of
11.6% year-on-year.

31st Mar 2022

31st Mar 2021

USD

USD

Property portfolio value

356 m

360 m

Gross Asset Value (GAV)

367 m

375 m

Net Asset Value (NAV)

167 m

180 m

0.67

0.72

5.70%

6.57%

NAV per share
Net yield on NAV

Binghatti Terraces
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Share performance and dividend
distribution
ENBD REIT’s ordinary shares were offered for trading on Nasdaq Dubai on 23rd March
2017. For live and custom information relating to ENBD REIT’s stock (ticker symbol:
ENBDREIT), visit our Investor Relations website: www.enbdreit.com/reit/investorrelations
The REIT’s Board of Directors proposed a final dividend for
the financial year ending 31st March 2022 of USD 5,000,000
or USD 0.0200 per share – equivalent to 5.99% (annualised)
of NAV and 9.30% (annualised) of the share price – subject to
shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
on 21st June 2022. This proposed dividend is equivalent to the
net rental income generated by ENBD REIT’s portfolio, despite
movements in valuation experienced during the period.
ENBD REIT paid an interim dividend of USD 0.0180 per share,
equivalent to an annualised dividend yield of 4.88% on NAV

Share price
Dividend % per share

per share or 8.00% on the share price at the time. This brings
the total dividend payable to shareholders for the year ended
31st March 2022 to USD 9,500,000 – equivalent to 5.69% of
the cum-dividend NAV and 8.84% of the share price at 31st
March 2022.
Following the AGM and subject to Shareholder approval, the
shares will trade ex-dividend on 7th July 2022, with the record
date set as 8th July 2022 and the payment date on 29th July
2022. ENBD REIT intends to continue paying dividends on a
semiannual basis in line with its current dividend policy.
31st Mar 2022

31st Mar 2021

USD

USD

0.43

0.43

8.84%

8.62%

Remraam
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Portfolio
Portfolio summary

02
34

Office portfolio

36

Residential portfolio

46

Alternative portfolio

52

Binghatti Terraces
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Portfolio summary
Al Thuraya Tower 1

As at 31st March 2022, ENBD REIT held 11 office, residential, and alternative assets in
its portfolio. The total value of the portfolio was USD 356 million, with a net leasable
area of 1.29 million sq. ft. The WAULT for the full portfolio was 4.3 years, with a blended
occupancy rate of 80%.
The assets are spread throughout Dubai and situated
in strategic locations that show promising potential in
terms of rental income and market valuations. These
areas include Dubai International Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai Media City, Dubai Healthcare City, Dubai
Internet City, Dubai Silicon Oasis, Barsha Heights and
Dubailand.

All properties are directly managed and maintained by
an experienced asset management team, who work
closely with selected third-party property and facility
managers. ENBD REIT is committed to delivering
optimal value for both shareholders and tenants, a
philosophy which is deeply rooted at the core of the
company’s asset management strategy.

The Edge

6%

Burj Daman
DHCC49

3%

DHCC25

6%

19%

5%

5%

Arabian Oryx House

5%

Binghatti Terraces
Al Ramth 57 & 59

20%

6%

Uninest

8%

Souq Extra

17%

South View School

ENBD REIT’s portfolio currently consists of the following assets:

Office
•
•
•

•
•

The Edge Building (Dubai Internet City)
Al Thuraya Tower 1 (Dubai Media City)
Burj Daman (two and a half floors,
Dubai International Financial Centre
(DIFC))
DHCC 49 (Dubai Healthcare City)
DHCC 25 (Dubai Healthcare City)

Residential
•
•
•

Binghatti Terraces (Dubai Silicon Oasis
(DSO))
Arabian Oryx House (Barsha Heights)
Al Ramth Buildings 57 & 59 Remraam,
Dubailand

Alternative
•
•
•

Uninest (Dubailand)
South View School (Dubailand)
Souq Extra Retail Centre (Dubai Silicon
Oasis (DSO)
The Edge

99%

Al Thuraya Tower1

35%

Burj Daman

79%

DHCC49

78%

DHCC25

77%

Binghatti Terraces

96%

Arabian Oryx House

96%

Remraam Residential

98%
100%

Uniest

97%

Souq Extra

100%

South View School

0%

20%

Offices 72%
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40%

60%

Residential 97%

80%

100%

Alternative 99%
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OFFICE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•

•

•

•

Largest refurbishment project of the REIT completed in the
March 2022 that included addition of facilities, new lifts,
bathrooms, Energy saving lighting, and refurbishment of
ground floor Lobby area to address lower occupancy
Provision of added community facilities like prayer rooms,
meeting rooms, yoga studio, shower and changerooms,
breakout areas to the building as well as bathrooms for
people with determination
80,000 sq. ft of new leasing enquiries received in Q1 2022
(post completion of refurbishment works)

•

Low asking rents and availability of cheaper units in other
Free Zone areas as well as competition from other buildings
in the area
Despite improving, occupancy remains low at mid 30%

Proposed solutions
•
•
•

Open House conducted in May with participation from
major real estate leasing agencies
Engagement and incentives offered to reputed agencies to
improve occupancy
Use of high-quality marketing collaterals (Digital /Print
Brochures and Matterport scanning) for advertisements
and tenant enquiries

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

A G+29-storey high rise commercial tower, located at a prime location in
Dubai Media City with views over the Dubai Marina, Dubai Internet City,
Emirates Living and Palm Jumeirah.

MARKET VALUE

Dubai
Media City

November
2006

USD 68
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

19%
AL THURAYA TOWER 1

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

0.96

208,565

35%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

5.1%

*Annual contractual rental
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OFFICE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Proposed solutions

•
•

•
•

Occupancy improved from 97% to 99%
Achieved LEED Gold Certification from US Green Building
Council

Offer incentives to lease the last retail unit
Regular engagement with agencies to get new potential
tenants introduced to the building

Challenges
•
•

Inadequate parking in the surrounding areas
Limited interest from Retail clients for the only unit
available due to lack of visibility

As at 31st March 2022

ACQUIRED

Dubai
October
Internet City 2017

USD 70
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

20%
THE EDGE
A G+6-storey office tower, located in a prime location in Dubai Internet City
with prominent frontage and Grade A tenants.

MARKET VALUE

LOCATION

WAULT (years)

3.02

92,208

99%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

8.1%

*Annual contractual rental

38

39

ENBD REIT Annual Report 2022

Portfolio

OFFICE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•
•
•

•
•

Occupancy increased from 69% to 79% over the last year
7,881 sq. ft area leased in Q1 2022
Large vacant units subdivided and fitted to offer a ready to
move in option to prospective tenants

Lower asking rentals from landlords of other floors
Other landlords in the building have followed suit offering
fitted and furnished

Proposed solutions
•
•

Monitoring asking rentals in the building
Engagement and incentives offered to reputed agencies to
improve overall occupancy

As at 31st March 2022
LOCATION

Dubai

ACQUIRED

International June
Financial
2015
Centre

USD 60
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

17%
BURJ DAMAN
ENBD REIT’s interest consists of two and a half floors (the REIT fully
owns the 10th and 14th floors and half of the 15th floor) in the
commercial portion of the tower in the DIFC.

WAULT (years)

3.31

MARKET VALUE

83,576

79%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

6.7%

*Annual contractual rental
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OFFICE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•
•
•

•

Stable occupancy around 78% throughout the year
Completed ground floor lobby refurbishment
Operating expenses have been constant

•
•

Availability of cheaper, lower quality office options for lease
in the area
Options for companies to locate within other free zones
with a DHCC license
Asset is ageing (over 10 years old) and requires constant
repairs and maintenance to maintain quality

Proposed solutions
•
•
•
•

Monitor asking rentals and align asking rentals to the area
Promote leasing through incentives
Continue refurbishments and upgrades to the Asset
Rationalise operating costs

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

Dubai
Healthcare
City

April
2007

USD 27
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

8%
DUBAI HEALTHCARE CITY 49
G+5 storey commercial complex located in the Dubai Healthcare City
free zone.

MARKET VALUE

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

2.7

80,808

78%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

8.1%

*Annual contractual rental
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OFFICE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•

•

•
•

Refurbishment to ground floor lobby and basement 1
parking completed
Lease renewal of one of the largest tenants - 10,113 sq. ft.
till 2024
New leases of around 5,256 sq. ft. signed in the last year

•

Availability of cheaper, lower quality office options for lease
in the area and other free zones
Asset is ageing (over 10 years old) and requires upgrades to
the facilities like bathrooms and corridors

Proposed solutions
•
•

Offer competitive leasing rates and incentives
Improve building look and feel through planned upgrade of
overall building facilities

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

Dubai
Healthcare
City

July
2007

USD 21
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

6%
DUBAI HEALTHCARE CITY 25
G+6 storey commercial tower located in the Dubai Healthcare City
free zone.

MARKET VALUE

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

1.47

71,034

77%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

9.0%

*Annual contractual rental
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RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•
•
•

•
•

Stable occupancy around 96% throughout the year
Retiling of swimming pool completed
Basement car park refurbished which included resurfacing
of car park and installation of LED lighting

Maintaining occupancy in the building
Controlling operating expenses

Proposed solutions
•
•

Implementation energy saving initiatives within the building
to reduce operating costs
Monitor occupancy and adjust rental rates in line with
market trends

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

A residential tower with 128 units in the Barsha Heights community.
The building comprises of one, two and four-bedroom apartments.

MARKET VALUE

Barsha
Heights

October
2014

USD 18
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

5%
ARABIAN ORYX HOUSE

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

0.57

132,008

96%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

10.8%

*Annual contractual rental
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RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•
•
•

•
•

Occupancy increased from 68% to 96%
Refurbishment of swimming pool completed
New FM service provider appointed to improve building
condition

Additional residential units available in the area
Increase in expenses to maintain the building to a good
standard

Proposed solutions
•
•
•

Rationalisation of operating expenses through energy
savings and renegotiation of existing maintenance contracts
Offering competitive rentals and incentives where
necessary to maintain occupancy
Continue planned refurbishments to maintain and improve
building condition

As at 31st March 2022

ACQUIRED

May
Dubai
Silicon Oasis 2016

USD 19
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

5%
BINGHATTI TERRACES
A residential tower with 201 residential and 5 retail units in Dubai Silicon
Oasis, constructed by developers with an established track record.

MARKET VALUE

LOCATION

WAULT (years)

0.85

178,907

96%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

10.2%

*Annual contractual rental
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RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights
•
•

•

Occupancy improved from 46% to 98% over the financial
year
Engaged a 24/7 maintenance team on site to reduce
response time for the tenants and to keep the property in a
good leasable condition

Challenges
•
•

Proposed solutions
•
•

Competition from other buildings owned by Dubai
Properties in the neighbourhood
Age of the property requiring regular upkeep to keep it in
line with surrounding buildings

Challenges with the master community manager to
undertake repairs and painting works to the façade and
common areas

•

Regular monitoring of rentals of the area to maintain
occupancy
Continuous upkeep of the units and engagement with
the master community manager to ensure works are
undertaken in reasonable time
Earmarked for potential exit due to lower yields, even at
current high occupancies

As at 31st March 2022

ACQUIRED

September
2015

USD 12
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

Dubailand

3%
AL RAMTH 57 & 59 - REMRAAM
Two residential towers offering 105 units in mainly 1&2 bedroom
apartments.

MARKET VALUE

LOCATION

WAULT (years)

0.58

112,154

98%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

7.6%

*Annual contractual rental
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ALTERNATIVE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Challenges

•
•

•

Current occupancy is 100%
Lease regear concluded for a 10-year term with a
performance linked turnover clause

Large supply of rooms in Academic City at competitive
pricing

Proposed solutions
•

“Best-in-class” service offering maintained by the operator
to ensure continued high demand for this asset

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

Dubailand

May
2017

USD 19
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

5%
UNINEST
A purpose built 424 bed student accommodation building conveniently
located in the heart of Dubailand.

MARKET VALUE

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

9.42

160,264

100%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

7.1%

*Annual contractual rental
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ALTERNATIVE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Proposed solutions

•
•

•

Steady occupancy at 100%
Long lease up to 2053

•

Challenges
•
•

Improvement of the area and parking facilities surrounding
the school
Challenges with the master community manager to
undertake improvements to the community

Liaising with the master community manager to improve
the area surrounding the school
Exploring potential LEED certification following the success
of achieving LEED Gold certification at the Edge Building in
2022

As at 31st March 2022

LOCATION

Dubailand

August
2017

USD 22
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

6%
SOUTH VIEW SCHOOL
Mid-market British curriculum school located in Dubailand within
Remraam, a prominent middle-income community at the Hessa Street /
Emirates Road (E611) intersection.

MARKET VALUE

ACQUIRED

WAULT (years)

31.36

132,000

100%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

6.7%

*Annual contractual rental
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ALTERNATIVE PORTFOLIO
Asset management highlights

Proposed solutions

•

•
•

Achieved 97% occupancy

Challenges
•

Tenant retention through competitive pricing
Active marketing of the property to improve foot fall

Availability of alternative retail shops in the area including
the recently opened Silicon Central by the Lulu Group
International

As at 31st March 2022

ACQUIRED

December
Dubai
Silicon Oasis 2017

USD 21
million

% OF PORTFOLIO
VALUE

NET LEASABLE AREA
(SQ. FT.)

OCCUPANCY
RATE

6%
SOUQ EXTRA COMMUNITY
RETAIL CENTRE

Phase 1 is a well-situated community retail centre in Dubai Silicon
Oasis, with 42 retail tenants including Carrefour Market, KFC,
McDonalds and Starbucks.
56

MARKET VALUE

LOCATION

WAULT (years)

1.45

36,027

97%

GROSS RENTAL YIELD*

10.0%

*Annual contractual rental
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Directors’ Report

Incorporation
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC – a DIFC Company with Registration Number 2209 (the “Company” or “ENBD REIT”) was incorporated on 18th July

Property valuations

2016. ENBD REIT and its subsidiaries and Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) are collectively referred to as “the Group”.

The values of the properties that form the bulk of the assets in the Group are determined regularly by CB Richard Ellis, Knight Frank
and Cavendish Maxwell, independent experts in real estate valuations. The Directors express comfort in the level of expertise applied

ENBD REIT was incorporated as a company limited by shares under the Companies Law DIFC Law No. 2 of 2009 and has been renamed to

to the valuation process which requires significant accounting estimates and judgements (refer note 2(d) of the consolidated financial

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC from ENBD REIT (CEIC) Limited due to the introduction of the new DIFC Companies Law, DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018.

statements). A revised valuation policy has been implemented in this Financial year ending 31 March 2022 which includes a rotation
mechanism to ensure the properties are not valued by the same valuer for more than 5 years as per regulatory requirements for REITs

Structure

Islamic Financing

On 23rd March 2017, the shares of ENBD REIT were admitted to the Dubai Financial Services Authority (“DFSA”) list of shares to trade on

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has refinanced its existing Islamic finance by entering into a Murabaha facility of USD

Nasdaq Dubai after the Initial Public Offering (the “IPO”).

200,000,000 with Emirates NBD Bank and Commercial Bank of Dubai on 7th December 2021. The facility consists of tranche A of USD
120M at a profit margin of 2.05% above the quarterly LIBOR and tranche B of GBP equivalent to USD 80M at a profit margin of 1.95%

Investment policy and objectives

above the quarterly LIBOR. The new Murabaha facility will reduce the finance cost with the lower profit margins.

The purpose of the Group is to provide investors with a professionally managed means of participating in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”)

Declaration

real estate market. The primary investment objective of the Group is to achieve regular rental income and long-term capital growth from

The Directors have analysed the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and have not identified a material uncertainty that may

a diversified portfolio of commercial, residential and alternative properties. Investment decisions under the supervision of the Directors of

cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, they have prepared the consolidated financial

the Group will be made on behalf of the Group by the Fund Manager, and will reflect the medium to long-term objective to maximise total

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 on a going concern basis.

return made up of rental income and capital appreciation.
Deloitte & Touche M.E. were appointed as external auditors of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Board of directors has
The Group shall have the capacity to seek finance in a manner compliant with Islamic Shari’a law to aid further property acquisitions from

recommended the appointment of Deloitte & Touche M.E. as the auditor for 2022-23 for approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming

time to time with an aim to further increase shareholders’ returns. The Group may invest in properties via offshore special purpose vehicles

Annual General Meeting.

(“SPVs”). A single SPV may be used to hold each separate property, and any finance sought for the property acquisitions will be either at the
Group level or at the SPV level.

Signed on behalf of the Board

All investments of the Group will take place according to Shari’a guidelines, as defined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Group. The
Shari’a Supervisory Board will also periodically review that all implemented investment decisions of the Fund Manager remain within
Shari’a guidelines.

Results and distributions
The results for the year are set out in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 11. During the current year,
a final dividend of USD 0.0176 per share amounting to USD 4,400,000 (4.88% annualised of NAV) was declared and approved for the year

Director
Date: 25 May 2022

ended 31st March 2021 and paid on 25th July 2021. (0.0204 per share amounting to USD 5,100,000 (4.4% annualised of NAV) was declared
and approved for the year ended 31st March 2020 and paid on 28th July 2020). Furthermore, an interim dividend of 4,500,000 for the 6
month period ended 30th September 2021 was declared and approved and subsequently paid on 28th December 2021 (USD 0.0194 per
share amounting to USD 4,850,000 (4.89% of NAV) for the 6 month period ended 30th September 2020 was declared and approved and
subsequently paid on 6th January 2021).
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Corporate governance
framework
ENBD REIT’s corporate governance framework is managed in accordance with the
responsibilities of three independent boards and committees, reporting directly to the
Board of Directors. The activities and membership of the Board of Directors and ENBD
REIT’s boards and committees are outlined below.
Board of Directors
Responsibilities
The Board assumes overall responsibility to shareholders for the success of ENBD
REIT, as well as for oversight of its strategic direction, investment policy and corporate
governance. The Board answers directly to the General Assembly of Shareholders, with
responsibility for approving ENBD REIT’s audited financial statements and dividend distributions.
Members

Tariq Bin Hendi
Chairman

Khalid Al Fahim
Director

Ali Rashid Humaid Al Mazroei
Director

Mark Creasey
Director

Dr. Tariq Bin Hendi is the Group Chief Investment Officer at G42.
He has more than 19 years of experience in asset management,
private equity and investment banking. Prior to his current
position, Tariq held various roles at Abu Dhabi Investment Office,
Emirates NBD, Commercial Bank of Dubai, Mubadala, Citigroup,
Dubai Holding, Delta Airlines and UPS. . He is a Board Member
of Emirates Post Group, Dubai Gold & Commodities Exchange
(DGCX) and AXA Green Crescent Insurance Company (AXA GCIC).
He holds a PhD in Labour Economics from Imperial College
London (UK) as well as degrees from Columbia University (USA),
London Business School (UK), and Clayton State (USA).

Khalid has over 18 years of professional experience in
management and board advisory, and has been an active
member of various organisations and industries in the UAE,
including Al Fahim Group (UAE), where he has held offices
from business development to council member and executive
management, most recently sitting as an advisor to the Board
since 2012. He also represents the Group as a director of a
number of its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. From 2010
to 2012, Khalid served as an Executive Director of Dubai Pearl. In
2007 he joined the UAE Professional Football League Assessment
Committee and was later appointed to the first Board of the
UAE Professional League. He is a partner of Quintessentially,
the leading luxury lifestyle and concierge group, in Abu Dhabi,
and since 2009 has served as a Director of the philanthropic
Abdul Jalil Al Fahim & Family Endowment. Khalid holds a degree
in Business Administration from the American Intercontinental
University in London and a Master’s degree in Diplomacy from
the University of Westminster, London.

With over 21 years of experience, Ali is Group Director and
CEO at Bahri & Mazroei Group, a diversified investment group
established in 1968. Prior to this, Ali worked at Citibank N.A
where he held various positions at the regional and country
level including TMEA Business Planning & Analysis Head, UAE
Regulatory Head, and Director of Citi Business. He is also a Board
Member of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) since 2010, National
Bonds since 2011 and Taaleem Holding since 2016. Ali holds an
MBA from Southern New Hampshire University and Bachelor of
Business Administration from American University in Dubai.

In addition to his position on the Board of ENBD REIT, Mark acts
as an Independent Non-Executive Director on the boards of a
number of collective investment funds investing in Commercial
and Residential Real Estate; Private Equity; UK, European, African
and MENA securities; and venture capital. Mark is a Chartered
Certified Accountant, qualifying with KPMG in Jersey in 1995.
He has over twenty five years’ experience in the finance sector
covering Audit, Finance, Banking and Funds, with his most recent
focus on Funds Services. In 1998, he joined Standard Bank Jersey
Limited, where he held a number of senior roles, including six
years as a Director in their funds division. In 2011 he moved to
JTC Group Limited where he was a Director in the fund services
division. Since July 2015 he has been acting as an Independent
Non-Executive Director. He has extensive experience in both
conventional and Shari’a compliant structures, in a variety
of regulatory jurisdictions. He is a fellow of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants and is a Member of the
Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment.
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Governance

Management and administration

Responsibilities

The Committee reviews and confirms investment opportunities recommended by ENBD REIT’s management, subject to no
objections being raised based on the committee members’ expertise as long-standing real estate or investment professionals.
The Investment Committee is not actively involved in the daily management of ENBD REIT.

Members

• Khalid AlFahim
• Sophie Llewellyn
• Christopher Seymour

Oversight Committee

Directors of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC (Formerly known
as ENBD REIT (CEIC) Limited)

Tariq Bin Hendi
Khalid Al Fahim
Ali Rashid Humaid Al Mazroei
Mark Creasey

Registered Office

Office 8th Floor East Wing
DIFC – The Gate Building
P.O. Box 506578
Dubai
United Arab Emirates

Fund Manager

Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited
8th Floor East Wing
DIFC – The Gate Building
P.O. Box 506578
Dubai
United Arab Emirates

Shari’a Supervisory Board

Fatwa and Shari’a Supervision Board
Amanie Advisors LLC
Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited
Dr. Mohamed Ali Elgari (Chairman)
Dr. Mohd Daud Bakar (Executive Member)
Dr. Muhammad Amin Ali Qattan
Dr. Osama Al Dereai

Independent Auditor

Deloitte & Touch (M.E)
Building 3, Level 6
Emaar Square, Downtown Dubai
P.O. Box 4254
United Arab Emirates

Administrator and Company Secretary

Apex Fund Services (Dubai) Ltd.
Office 101, Level 1,
Gate Village, Building 5, DIFC
P.O. Box 506534
Dubai
United Arab Emirates

Custodian

Apex Fund Services (Guernsey) Limited
1st Floor Tudor House Le Bordage,
St. Peter Port
Guernsey GY1 1DB

Responsibilities

The Committee provides independent oversight and supervision of ENBD REIT and its management. It ensures that financial
and governance controls are in place to secure regulatory compliance, reporting findings directly to the Board of Directors for
their attention or that of the DFSA.

Members

• Abdulla Mohammed Al Awar
• Hari Bhambra
• James Anderson

Shari’a Supervisory Board
Responsibilities

The Board ensures compliance with the principles of Shari’a, providing advice and guidance to ENBD REIT in delivering Shari’a
compliant transactions and running the business according to best practice in Shari’a compliance.

Members

• Dr. Mohamed Ali Elgari
• Dr. Mohd Daud Bakar
• Dr. Muhammad Amin Ali Qattan
• Dr. Osama Al Dereai
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Risk management
Transparency is at the heart of ENBD REIT’s risk and
governance culture. ENBD REIT’s approach to risk
management within the portfolio is to spread risk by acquiring
high quality assets across a diverse range of properties,
both in terms of asset type and location. The portfolio is
considered to carry a medium-to-low level of risk in part due
to its diversity across asset classes, which is further mitigated
by an experienced, well-established and highly qualified
management team. The focus of ENBD REIT’s investments is
on sustainable medium to long-term income generation, as
opposed to short-term capital gains.
All risk-related policies are presented to, and reviewed by,
the Board of Directors, with Emirates NBD Group providing
oversight and risk reviews on both a periodic basis. ENBD
REIT’s risk strategy is driven by the Board of Directors, who
meet on a quarterly basis, being highly active in robustly
challenging major decisions taken by management.
ENBD REIT has a sound governance structure, with boards and
committees meeting at varying degrees of regularity.
Risk profile
• A publicly listed investment company subject to the rules
and regulations of Nasdaq Dubai and the DFSA
• No compliance-related issues in the last 12 months
• Investment activities of acquiring and holding assets are
considered to carry a medium-to-low level of risk
• Performance is subject to conditions in the UAE real
estate and equities markets, whereby fluctuations may
impact share price, occupancy, rental yield and asset
valuation

Investment Committee report
The Investment Committee meets on an ad hoc basis,
according to the requirements of ENBD REIT’s acquisition and
disposal activities, while the Oversight Committee meets on
a quarterly basis and the Shari’a Supervisory Board meets
annually. Apex Fund Management Services acts as ENBD
REIT’s custodian, administrator and Company Secretary,
managing its relationship with Nasdaq Dubai. Meanwhile,
ENBD REIT’s regulator, the Dubai Financial Services Authority
(DFSA), performs formal risk assessments every 2 years.
ENBD REIT further benefits from an internal controls
programme run by the Fund Manager, Emirates NBD Asset
Management. Risks relating to ENBD REIT are also discussed
during Emirates NBD Asset Management board meetings, with
an internal audit conducted every 18 months. The most recent
internal audit of Emirates NBD Asset Management resulted
in an ‘Acceptable’ rating. Emirates NBD Group’s compliance
department as part of their normal review schedule conducts
additional ad hoc and themed reviews.

•

•

Weakened asset valuation resulting from market
fluctuation may impact ENBD REIT’s ability adhere to its
financial covenants and could impact refinancing in the
future
ENBD REIT’s risk appetite is conservative, as advised by
the Board of Directors, and is not due to change in the
immediate future

The Investment Committee is responsible for developing and
monitoring ENBD REIT’s investment strategy. The Investment
Committee shall review investment opportunities and report
to the Fund Manager as to whether or not it consents to
such transactions. No property transaction shall be made
by the Fund without the prior consent of the Investment
Committee. During the reporting period, no acquisitions or
divestments of any real estate assets took place.

For the avoidance of doubt, the inclusion of the ‘material
valuation uncertainty’ declaration above does not mean that
the valuation cannot be relied upon. Rather, the declaration
has been included to ensure transparency of the fact that, in
the current extraordinary circumstances, less certainty can be
attached to the valuation than would otherwise be the case.
The material uncertainty clause is to serve as a precaution
and does not invalidate the valuation.

Investment pipeline
Although currently limited due to being fully invested,
ENBD REIT’s future acquisition pipeline focuses on specific
sectors – and in particular long-term leased assets often
categorised within the alternative assets segment. Given
negative movements in valuations directly impact LTVs and
lenders‘ covenants, this may have limitations on future
investment pipeline in the short-term. Alternative assets
remain particularly attractive, due to their resilience in
times of market volatility, and their typically long-term lease
agreements. Management has also identified assets for
strategic exits provided they achieve attractive pricing.

Despite challenges in the real estate market, the number
of institutional real estate opportunities to acquire is still
limited, however new opportunies that come to market at
attractive pricing will continue to be monitored for potential
acquisition into the portfolio.

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared
by the World Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic”
on the 11th March 2020, has impacted global financial
markets. Travel restrictions have been implemented by many
countries. Market activity is being impacted in many sectors.
As at the valuation date, we are aware that less weight can
be attached to previous market evidence for comparison
purposes, to derive opinions of value. Indeed, the current
response to COVID-19 means that we are faced with an
unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a
judgement. The valuations are therefore reported as being
subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as set out in VPS
3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation - Global Standards.
Consequently, less certainty - and a higher degree of caution
- should be attached to these valuations than would normally
be the case. Given the unknown future impact that COVID-19
might have on the real estate market, we recommend that
the valuation of the Portfolio be kept under frequent review.

Which sectors are we focusing on?
Focus is on good quality properties in the following sectors:

Office 50-60%
Residential 20-25%
Alternative 15-25%

Which areas are we focusing on?
The Portfolio aims to be diversified across the the UAE.

Office 50-75%
Residential 10-20%
Other Emirates <10%
(Tenant driven)

Health Care City 49
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Shari’a Supervisory
Board report

Most Beneficent, The Most Merciful

In the Name Of Allah, The Beneficent, The Merciful.

(CEIC) PLC FUND

To: TheCERTIFICATE
Board of Directors of ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC.
OMPLIANCE

1 TO 31 MARCH
2022Wa Rahamat Allah Wa Barakatuh
Asslam Alaikum
We have reviewed the principles and the contracts relating to the transactions entered into by ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC (“ENBD

Amanie REIT”),
Advisors
(“Amanie”),
for the
year ended through
31st MarchAmanie,
2022. has



ȋ
Ȍ as to whether ENBD REIT has complied with the Shari’a rules and
We have also conducted
our review to form
an opinion

principles
and
also 
with ͵ͳ
the relevant
specific decisions and guidelines which were issued by us.
 Ͳͳ 
ʹͲʹͳ

  fatwa
ʹͲʹʹand
(“Year


are

 for

that

 
You
responsible
ensuring
ENBD REIT
conducts its business in accordance with the Shari’a rules and principles, as

interpreted by us. It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion based on our review of ENBD REIT’s operations,

ǡǡ
and preparing our report to you.

        ȋ   

We conducted our review in accordance with the Auditing and Governance Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing


Institutions

Organisation
for Islamic Financial
(“AAOIFI”). An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence to give

reasonable
assurance that
the Fund have
neither as
violated any Shari’a rules and principles nor violated any relevant fatwa and
amic Financial
Institutions
(“AAOIFI”)
standards
specific decisions and guidelines which were issued by us. We have planned and performed our review so as to obtain all

ority (“DFSA”)
Islamic
Finance
(“IFR”).
necessary
information
and Rules
explanations
which we considered necessary for us to provide you with our opinion. We believe that
the review provides us with a reasonable basis for our opinion.

  
In our opinion:



  ǡ

a. ENBD REIT remained in compliance with the Shari’a rules and principles and also with the relevant Fatwa and specific
decisions and guidelines which were issued by us, for the year ended 31st March 2022.
b. All earnings that have been realized between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022 from the sources or by means prohibited
by the Shari’a rules and principles have either been disposed of or have been segregated for disposal for charitable causes.

ghtyǤ

We ask Allah Almighty to grant us all the success and straight-forwardness.



ǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦ



Dr. Mohamed Ali Elgari
Chairman, Fatwa and Shari‘a Supervisory Board
ǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦ
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC

Ȍ

ǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦ



ǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦ


In the Name of Allah, The Most Beneficent, The Most Merciful
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ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC FUND
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SHARIAH
COMPLIANCE
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(CEIC) PLC FUND
01 APRIL
2021
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2022
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01 APRIL
2021
TO 31 MARCH
2022
ANNUAL
SHARIAH
COMPLIANCE
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01 APRIL 2021 TO 31 MARCH 2022

01 APRIL 2021 TO 31 MARCH 2022

   (“SSB”) of Amanie Advisors (“Amanie”), through Amanie, has

    (“SSB”) of Amanie Advisors (“Amanie”), through Amanie, has



ȋhas
Ȍ

   (“SSB”) of Amanie
Advisors (“Amanie”),
through Amanie,
In the Name of Allah, The Most Beneficent, The Most
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01 APRILPrinciples”)
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2022
“Shariah
Year 2021ȀʹͲʹʹǤ




  within
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Accounting
and Auditing
Organization
for Islamic Financial Institutions
(“AAOIFI”)
standards as
“Shariah Principles”)
within
Year 2021ȀʹͲʹʹǤ

 
Accounting
and
Auditing
Organization
for Islamic
(“AAOIFI”)
standards
as audit on the
The Shariah
Supervisory
Board
(“SSB”)
of Amanie
AdvisorsFinancial
(“Amanie”),Institutions
through
Amanie,
has
performed
its Shariah
“Shariah
Principles”)
within
Year
2021ȀʹͲʹʹǤ




ancial
ServicesENBD
Authority
(“DFSA”)
Islamic
Finance
Rules
Accounting
and Auditing
Organization
for
Islamic
Financial
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as 2021 until
business activities
of the Shariah
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REIT (CEIC)
PLC Fund
(the “Fund”)
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ancial
Services
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(“DFSA”)
Islamic
Finance
Rules
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Accounting
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as on the Fund’s
the 31 March
2022
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Amanie
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 ancial Services Authority (“DFSA”) Islamic Finance Rules (“IFR”).
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provisions
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Shariah,
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fatwas,Rules
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(“DFSA”)
Islamic
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ǡ


that
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issued
by
it
from
time
to
time
(collectively
the
“Shariah
Principles”)
within
Year
2021/2022.
The audit of the Fund
ǡ   
has been conducted
as per the Accounting
and Auditing 
Organization
for Islamic Financial Institutions
(“AAOIFI”)




 ǡstandards as
ǡ






 ǡ
ǡ



required by the Dubai
Financial Services
Authority (“DFSA”)
Islamic
Finance Rules (“IFR”).
ʹͲʹͳȀʹͲʹʹǤ
     ǡ
ʹͲʹͳȀʹͲʹʹǤ

    ǡ
Pursuant to the above, Amanie confirms that the Fund has performed its business activities as per the Shariah Principles and
ʹͲʹͳȀʹͲʹʹǤ
had complied with the AAOIFI standards as required by the DFSA IFR, during Year 2021/2022.
ʹͲʹͳȀʹͲʹʹǤ
Allah AlmightyǤ
Allah AlmightyǤ
Allah Almighty knows best.
Allah AlmightyǤ
Allah AlmightyǤ
APPROVED BY:
APPROVED
BY:
APPROVED
APPROVED BY:
BY:
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Dr.
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Dr.Muhammad
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ǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦǦ
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Oversight Committee report
In line with the DFSA Collective Investment Law, Markets Law,
Collective Invesmtent Rules and Markets Rules (hereinafter
the applicable regulations), the Oversight Committee
supervises and reviews the activities of the Fund Manager for
ENBD REIT and advises the Board of Directors on the Fund
Manager’s compliance with all applicable articles, laws and
regulations, risk management and safekeeping of ENBD REIT
assets.
The Oversight Committee has adequate resources and access
to accurate, timely and comprehensive information relating
to the management of ENBD REIT and can report any actual
or suspected compliance breaches or inadequacies that they
identify and have recourse to the Directors.
During the course of the year, the Oversight Committee has
considered the Fund Manager’s compliance, inter alia, with
the following:
•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•

Ensuring that ENBD REIT’s articles of association (the
“Articles“) remains in compliance with the applicable
regulations;
Ensuring that the Fund Manager is complying with the
terms and conditions of its licence, particularly with
respect to the management of ENBD REIT;
The investment and borrowing limitations as imposed on
ENBD REIT under the Collective Investment Law or CIR
have not been transgressed;
The issue, sale, redemption and cancellation, and
calculation of the price of the Units and the application of
ENBD REIT ‘s income, has been carried out in accordance
with the applicable regulations and the Articles;
NAV/ Valuation process has been considered, and due
regard also given to the feedback of the External Auditors,
noting that the Fund Manager has also satisfied the
related obligations;
Following discussion with the Compliance Officer and
review of related compliance and risk reports, noted that
the Fund Manager has systems and controls in place to
operate as intended and remain adequate while further
complying with the applicable regulations;
There were no Sharia issues noted during the course of
the year;
The audit report confirmed that all safekeeping
requirements have been complied with; and
All conflicts of interest and related party transactions
are being reviewed by the Oversight Committee and
approved by the Board.

The important areas considered by the Oversight Committee
are as below:
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Calculation of Net Asset Value (“NAV”)
The Oversight Committee considers that the process of
calculation and publication of the NAV is satisfactory. The
calculation of the NAV is done by an external and independent
fund administrator based in the DIFC and regulated by the
DFSA and is published on a quarterly basis on the ENBD REIT’s
website and ENBD REIT’s regulatory announcement service.
Risk & Compliance Overview
The Fund Manager’s compliance and risk infrastructure has
been reviewed and reconfirmed in the Fund Manager‘s IRAP
and ICAAP. The size and scale of the structure is appropriate
to support ENBD REIT. The compliance framework at the Fund
Manager is subject to risk oversight independent from the
Fund Manager. The Oversight Committee was satisfied that
the systems and controls in place within the Fund Manager
operate as intended and remain adequate in so far as they
relate to ENBD REIT.
Valuation of Properties and Revised Valuation Policy
All investment properties are valued independently by
external valuation companies. The Oversight Committee
considered the valuation methodology and process adopted
and is satisfied that the valuations of the properties were
conducted appropriately in accordance with the rules. The
external auditors confirmed that they had, as part of their
financial audit, assessed the competence, independence and
integrity of the valuation process and thereafter confirmed
that reasonable valuations were adopted by the Fund
Manager (please see COVID-19 Cautionary note in relation to
valuations below).
In this financial year, ENBD REIT implemented its revised
valuation policy. in line with international best practice and
DFSA’s regulations. The revised valuation policy includes a
rotation mechanism to ensure each asset in the portfolio is
valued by a new valuer every 3-4 years.
The revised valuation policy has been approved by the ENBD
REIT Board and the Oversight Committee.
Investment
ENBD REIT owns only investments that are consistent with
its Constitutional documents and Prospectus. All investments
were made in compliance with Shari’a and investments in
corporate entities, for e.g. investment holding SPVs, were
made only where the liability of shareholders is limited. ENBD
REIT also remained compliant with its maximum limit of 40%
for investment in cash, government and public securities.

Financials
The Oversight Committee met with and reviewed the
materials presented by the external audit team to assess
the accuracy of, and any issues relating to the financial
information of the Fund manager and the financial position
of ENBD REIT. No material issues were noted.
Dividends
During the year ended 31st March 2022, a final dividend
of USD 0.0176 per share amounting to USD 4,400,000 was
declared and approved for the year ended 31st March
2021 and paid on 27h July 2021 (USD 0.0204 per share
amounting to USD 5,100,000 was declared and approved
for the year ended 31st March 2020 and paid on 28th July
2020). Furthermore, an interim dividend of USD 0.0180 per
share amounting to USD 4,500,000 for the 6 month period
ended 30th September 2021 was declared and approved and
subsequently paid on 28th December 2021 (USD 0.0194 per
share amounting to USD 4,850,000 for the 6 months period
ended 30th September 2020 was declared and approved and
subsequently paid on 6th January 2021).
At the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) to be held on
21st June 2022, the Board of Directors will propose a
final dividend of USD 0.0200 per share amounting to USD
5,000,000 (2.99% of NAV) for the 6-month period ended 31st
March 2022. The final dividend has been determined based
on the actual net rental return and funds from operations
(“FFO”) generated during the 12-month period. All dividends,
either paid or proposed in relation to the year ended 31st
March 2022 are distributed in accordance with the applicable
regulations.
Borrowing
The Oversight Committee noted that ENBD REIT’s total
outstanding borrowing amounted to USD 200 million, which
represents 54% of the Gross Asset Value of ENBD REIT
amounting to USD 367 as of 31st March 2022. This is in
compliance with the CIL and CIR in terms of borrowing limits.

COVID-19 cautionary note in relation to
valuations
The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19),
declared by the World Health Organisation as
a “Global Pandemic” on the 11th March 2020,
has impacted global financial markets. Travel
restrictions have been implemented by many
countries. Market activity is being impacted in
many sectors. As at the valuation date, we are
aware that less weight can be attached to previous
market evidence for comparison purposes, to
derive opinions of value. Indeed, the current
response to COVD-19 means that we are faced
with an unprecedented set of circumstances on
which to base a judgement. The valuations are
therefore reported as being subject to ‘material
valuation uncertainty’ as set out in VPS 3 and
VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation - Global Standards.
Consequently, less certainty - and a higher degree
of caution - should be attached to these valuations
than would normally be the case. Given the
unknown future impact that COVID-19 might have
on the real estate market, we recommend that the
valuation of the Portfolio be kept under frequent
review. For the avoidance of doubt, the inclusion
of the material valuation uncertainty’ declaration
above does not mean that the valuation cannot
be relied upon. Rather, the declaration has been
included to ensure transparency of the fact that
- in the current extraordinary circumstances
- less certainty can be attached to the valuation
than would otherwise be the case. The material
uncertainty clause is to serve as a precaution and
does not invalidate the valuation.

The members of the Oversight Committee have enquired
that the Fund Manager, through its operations, has
provided sufficient evidence of compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Deloitte & Touche (M.E.)
Building 3, Level 6
Emaar Square
Downtown Dubai
P.O. Box 4254
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
Tel: +971 (0) 4 376 8888
Fax:+971 (0) 4 376 8899
www.deloitte.com

August 17th, 2016

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC
Dubai
United Arab Emirates (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Valuation of Investment properties
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC (the “REIT”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA
Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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The Group’s investment properties amounted to
USD 367 million (2021: USD 372 million) as of
31 March 2022 (93% of total assets) and the
unrealised fair value loss recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss amounted
to USD 11 million (2021: USD 51 million). The
Group measures these properties at their fair value
and their measurement is inherently subjective due
to the individual nature and location of each
property.
The determination of fair value of these properties
is based on external valuations conducted by
independent certified property valuers on a
quarterly basis in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”)
valuation - Professional Standards using, relevant
market information generated from transactions of
comparable properties and discounted cash flows.
A high degree of judgment may be required from
these professional valuers when observable
information is not available or when significant
adjustments are made to the observable market
information.
The portfolio includes completed investment
properties. The valuation of the Group’s portfolio
is inherently subjective due to, among other
factors, the individual nature of each property, its
location and the expected future rentals for that
particular property. The wider challenges currently
facing the real estate sector as a result of Covid-19
and the impact of climate change further
contributed to the subjectivity at 31 March 2022.
The valuations take into account the propertyspecific information including the current tenancy
agreements and rental income, condition and
location of the property, and future rental
prospects, as well as prevailing market yields and
market transactions.

Our audit procedures included, but were not
limited to, the following:
• We evaluated the design and implementation
of relevant controls over the valuation process;
• We assessed and discussed management’s
process for reviewing and challenging the
work of the external valuers;
• We made enquiries of the external valuers to
understand the assumptions used in relation to
the key drivers in the property valuations. We
also assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuers;
• For a sample of properties, with the assistance
of our internal valuation specialists, we
challenged the assumptions used in relation to
the key drivers in the valuation such as rental
income, occupancy, yields and property
management costs. Our assessment as to the
appropriateness of the assumptions also
included considerations related to the impact
of COVID-19 on the valuation;
• We tested the integrity of a sample of the
information provided to the external valuers
by agreeing that information to underlying
lease agreements.
• We determined if the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements, relating to
this matter, was in accordance with the
requirements of IFRSs.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC
Dubai
United Arab Emirates (continued)

To the Shareholders of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC
Dubai
United Arab Emirates (continued)
Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Valuation of Investment properties (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The valuation of these properties is considered as a
key audit matter because of the complexities
inherent in the determination of fair values, which
is underpinned by a number of judgments and
assumptions as it requires the estimation of
property yields, rental growth, occupancy and
management costs. A small change in these
assumptions could have a significant impact on the
valuation of these properties.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

Refer to note 2 significant accounting policies and
critical estimates and judgments as well as note 3
investment properties in the consolidated financial
statements for more information relating to this
matter.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Other Information
The Fund Manager is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Fund Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
The Fund Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of
the DFSA, and for such internal control as the Fund Manager determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Fund Manager is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Fund Manager.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Fund Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities of the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC
Dubai
United Arab Emirates (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, we report that the company’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
the applicable provisions of the Market Law No 1 of 2012 (As Amended)
Deloitte & Touche (M.E.)

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2022

Note

31 Mar 2021

USD

USD

367,144,748

372,035,481

367,144,748

372,035,481

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment properties

3 & 16

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

4

6,638,512

7,453,637

Prepaid expenses

5

401,309

349,804

Cash and cash equivalents

6

Total current assets
Total assets

19,030,420

24,607,598

26,070,241

32,411,039

393,214,989

404,446,520

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

7

8,414,811

13,055,053

Finance cost payable on Islamic financing

8

-

170,930

9

-

43,732,824

10

812,890

699,101

9,227,701

57,657,908

Islamic finance payable
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

Malcolm Coates
25 May 2022
Dubai
United Arab Emirates

31 Mar 2022

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

7

2,651,071

2,358,246

Islamic finance payable

9

196,420,049

149,741,356

Derivative financial instrument (Currency swap)

9

3,573,036

-

10

14,393,951

14,396,410

Total non-current liabilities

217,038,107

166,496,012

Total liabilities

226,265,808

224,153,920

Lease liabilities

Equity
Share capital

11 (a)

250,000

250,000

Capital redemption reserve

11 (c)

962,457

962,457

Distributable reserve

11 (b)

-

101,465,373

Special reserve

11 (b)

6,063,007

70,805,683

Hedge reserve

11 (d)

(3,149,050)

-

Retained earnings

162,822,767

6,809,087

Total equity

166,949,181

180,292,600

Total equity and liabilities

393,214,989

404,446,520

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 May 2022 and signed on
behalf of the Board by:

Director
Date 25 May 2022

Director
Date 25 May 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 5 to 9.

78

79

ENBD REIT Annual Report 2022

Financial Statements

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2022

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Note

31 Mar
2022

31 Mar
2021

USD

USD

Income
Rental income
Property operating expenses

12

Property operating income

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(39,449,406)

(39,449,406)

-

-

(39,449,406)

(39,449,406)

Transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfer from share capital
(note 11)

(199,750,000)

-

199,750,000

-

-

-

-

Transfer from distributable
reserve

-

-

(117,411,230)

67,411,230

-

50,000,000

-

Dividend distribution (note 18)

-

-

-

-

-

(9,950,000)

(9,950,000)

(5,970,312)

36,793

47,471

(810,432)

(809,890)

Islamic financing costs

(7,408,840)

(7,103,591)

Net finance cost

(8,182,479)

(7,866,010)

9,516,103

11,846,920

(10,810,472)

(51,296,326)

(1,294,369)

(39,449,406)

Finance income / (cost)

Other comprehensive loss
(3,149,050)

-

(4,443,419)

(39,449,406)

(0.02)

(0.16)

Loss per share
19

229,692,006

-

(4,005,234)

Basic loss per share (USD)

USD

6,208,493

-

(103,458)

11 (d)

USD

-

-

(1,793,715)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

USD

-

79,040

Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedge

USD
3,394,453

-

(154,681)

Loss for the year

USD
19,126,603

-

(2,813,618)

Unrealised loss on fair valuation of investment properties, net

USD
962,457

Loss for the year

(1,259,521)

Profit before depreciation and loss on fair valuation of investment properties

USD
200,000,000

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

(2,540,909)

10

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

At 31 March 2021

250,000

962,457

101,465,373

70,805,683

-

6,809,087

180,292,600

As at 1 April 2021

250,000

962,457

101,465,373

70,805,683

-

6,809,087

180,292,600

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loss for the year

-

-

-

-

-

(1,294,369)

(1,294,369)

Other comprehensive loss

-

-

-

-

(3,149,050)

-

(3,149,050)

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

-

-

-

-

(3,149,050)

(1,294,369)

(4,443,419)

Transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfer from reserves
(note 11)

-

-

(101,465,373)

(64,742,676)

-

166,208,049

-

Dividend distribution (note 18)
At 31 March 2022

-

-

-

-

-

(8,900,000)

(8,900,000)

250,000

962,457

-

6,063,007

(3,149,050)

162,822,767

166,949,181

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 5 to 9.

The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 5 to 9.
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Total

25,683,242

(1,388,684)

Lease liability finance cost

Retained
Earnings

21,703,816

14

Profit on Islamic deposits

Hedge
Reserve

31,907,728

13

Total fund expenses

Special
Reserve

(6,224,486)

Management fees

4

Distributable
Reserve

27,252,477

General and administrative expenses

Reversal of /(allowance) for impairment against trade receivables

As at 01 April 2020

Capital
Redemption
Reserve

(5,548,661)

Expenses

Property valuation fees

Share
Capital
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Note

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 Mar
2022

31 Mar
2021

USD

USD

(1,294,369)

(39,449,406)

10,810,472

51,296,326

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Unrealised loss on investment properties, net
Profit on Islamic deposits
Allowance for impairment against trade receivables

4

Islamic financing cost
Finance cost on lease liability

(36,793)

(47,471)

(79,040)

1,793,715

7,408,840

7,103,591

810,432

809,890

17,619,542

21,506,645

894,165

(3,189,014)

Changes in :
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses

(51,505)

(123,326)

Trade and other payables

(4,347,417)

(2,178,655)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

14,114,785

16,015,650

(5,919,740)

(866,008)

36,793

47,471

(5,882,947)

(818,537)

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure on investment properties

3

Profit on Islamic deposits
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from Islamic financing

9

200,000,000

13,612,851

Repayment of Islamic financing

9

(194,641,357)

(600,000)

18

(8,900,000)

(9,950,000)

(9,568,557)

(6,423,808)

(699,102)

(929,702)

(13,809,016)

(4,290,659)

(5,577,178)

10,906,454

Dividend distribution to ordinary shareholders
Islamic financing cost paid
Payment of lease liability

10

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

6

24,607,598

13,701,144

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

6

19,030,420

24,607,598

Non-cash transactions

1. General Information
ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC – a DIFC Company with registration number 2209 (“the Company” or “ENBD REIT”) was incorporated on 18 July 2016.
On 15 February 2017, the name of the Company was changed from Emirates Real Estate Fund to ENBD REIT (CEIC) Limited, subsequently
the Company changed its name from ENBD REIT (CEIC) Limited to ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC following the introduction of the Companies Law,
DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018. ENBD REIT is registered as a Public Fund with the Dubai Financial Services Authority (“DFSA”). The Company is
regulated by the DFSA and is governed by, amongst others, the Collective Investment Law No. 2 of 2010 (“CIL”), the Collective Investment
Rules module of the DFSA Rules (“CIR”), the Markets Law DIFC Law No. 1 of 2012 (the “Markets Law”), the Markets Rules module of the
DFSA Rules (“Markets Rules”) and the applicable Dubai International Financial Centre (“DIFC”) companies law. The Company is categorised
under the CIL as a Public Fund and the CIR as a Domestic Fund, an Islamic Fund, a Property Fund and a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT).
ENBD REIT and its subsidiaries and special purpose vehicles (“SPV”) are collectively referred to as “the Group”. The registered address of
the Company is 8th Floor, East Wing, Dubai International Financial Centre, The Gate Building, PO Box 506578, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
ENBD REIT has been established as a Shari’a compliant company limited by shares under the DIFC Companies Law. The principal activity
of the Group is to participate in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) real estate market to achieve regular rental income and long-term
capital growth from a diversified portfolio of property and property related assets. All investments of the Group take place according to
Shari’a guidelines, as defined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Group. The Shari’a Supervisory Board also periodically review that all
investment decisions made by the Fund Manager are within Shari’a guidelines.
On 23 March 2017, the shares of ENBD REIT were admitted to the Dubai Financial Services Authority (“DFSA”) list of shares to trade on
Nasdaq Dubai after an Initial Public Offering (the “IPO”).

2. Significant accounting policies
a. Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 has been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), Islamic Shari’a rules and principles as
determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Group and in accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements of the DFSA. The
consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention basis except for investment properties which are stated
at fair value. The preparation of financial statement in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make certain accounting estimates,
judgement and assumptions. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. It also requires the Directors to exercise
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Critical accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions are set
out in Note 2(d).

b. New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments issued

Lease liabilities

111,331

119,812

a) New standards and amendments effective from 1 January 2021

Right-of-use assets

435,341

435,339

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in the previous
year. In the current year, the Group has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued that are effective for
annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements.
•
•

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 [IFRS 16]

b) New standards and amendments in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, there were a number of standards and interpretations which were
in issue but not yet effective. The Fund is assessing the impact of these standards and anticipates that the adoption of these standards and
interpretations in future periods will not have a significant impact on its financial statements.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 5 to 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

b. New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments issued (continued)

d. Financial instruments (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Standards / amendments to standards / interpretations

Effective date

Amendments to IFRS 3; Reference to the Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018- 2020

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a contract

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

1 January 2023

In the opinion of the Board of Directors of the Fund, these standards, amendments to standards and interpretations do not impact the
Fund as the Fund has no application to the above-mentioned standards.

c. Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries at 31 March
2022, as listed below.

Subsidiary
Arabian Oryx Property SPV 1 Limited
Blanford Fox Property SPV 2 Limited
Camel Property SPV 3 Limited
Dana Property SPV 4 Limited
Ewan Property SPV 5 Limited
Fajr Property SPV 6 Limited
Gazal Property SPV 7 Limited
Hesan Property SPV 8 Limited
Ibex Property SPV 9 Limited
The subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and will cease to be consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred from the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the Subsidiary. Control of the subsidiaries
transferred to the Group on the acquisition dates detailed above. Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and
expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Group does not meet
the Investment Entity definition under IFRS 10.

Common control transactions
Common control transactions are accounted at book value on the basis that the investment has transferred from one part of the group to
another. Accordingly, the Group recognises the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the book values in the financial statements of
the entity transferred. Difference between the consideration paid and the capital of the acquiree, if any, is disclosed as an adjustment in
equity under group restructuring reserve.

Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained investment at the date when control is lost and its
fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

d. Financial instruments
(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of
financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment loss and deferred
income, if any (except for those assets that are designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition):
1. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
2. the contractual terms of the instrument give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and profit on the
principal amount outstanding.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially measured at the transaction price)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised cost unless it has designated liabilities at FVPL. The Group derecognises a financial
liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 1 April 2018 relates solely to the new impairment requirements,
as described further below.

(ii) Impairment
The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI and contract assets, but not to investments in
equity instruments. The financial assets at amortised cost consist of trade and other receivables, Islamic deposits and cash at banks.
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:
•
•

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for cash at banks and Islamic deposits, which are
measured as 12-month ECLs for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

d. Financial instruments (continued)

d. Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment (continued)

(iii) Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due. The Group
considers a financial asset to be in default when:
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or
• the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited
to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Presentation of impairment

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged items affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects
that some or all of the losses accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into a derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to currency risks, including foreign exchange forward
contracts, options and cross currency swaps. Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a
financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both a legally enforceable right and intention to
offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12
months and it is not due to be realised or settled within 12 months.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in fair value
hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are
accounted for as cash flow hedges.
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements:
•
•
•

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument
The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship
The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective
for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances
the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria
(after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. This
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit
or loss.

e. Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates is United Arab Emirates
Dirham (“AED”). The presentation currency of these financial statements is United States Dollar (“USD”). The AED is currently pegged at a
conversion rate of AED 3.673 for every USD.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to USD at the foreign currency closing exchange rate ruling at the
reporting date. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on retranslation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

f. Investment properties
All properties owned by the Group are classified as investment properties, as they are held for the purpose of earning rental income or
for capital appreciation or a combination of the two. Investment properties are recognised as an asset when it is probable that the future
economic benefits that are associated with the investment properties will flow to the group and the cost of the investment properties can
be measured reliably. Property that is held under a lease is capitalised and treated as investment property.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
recognised at fair value at the reporting date. Gains and losses attributable to changes in fair value of investment properties are recognised
in the period in which they arise in the profit or loss as “Unrealised gain / loss on investment properties”. Gains or losses from the sale or
disposal of investment properties are calculated as the difference between the selling price and the carrying value of the property.

g. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash equivalent are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant changes in value. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalent consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

h. Expenses

l. Finance income and costs

The Group is responsible for the payment of management fees, administration fees and custodian fees, which are accrued on a monthly
basis and the payment of other expenses as detailed in the Prospectus of the Company. Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Finance income and expense are recognised within ‘Profits on Islamic deposits’ and ‘Finance Cost on Murabaha in profit or loss using the
effective yield method, except for borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets, which are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. The
Group has chosen to capitalise borrowing costs on all qualifying assets irrespective of whether they are measured at fair value or not.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

i. Dividend distribution
Collective Investment Rules (“CIR”) requires a Real Estate Investment Trust to distribute to its shareholders at least 80% of its audited
annual net income. Accordingly, at the reporting date, the Group has an obligation to its shareholders to pay at least 80% of its net profits
as dividend and Management will propose a final dividend to the shareholders for their approval to comply the CIR rule.

j. Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is fair valued as on the reporting date.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:
Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
Variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;
Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in
a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost at initial recognition comprising the following:
The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
Any initial direct costs; and
Restoration costs.
Subsequently, the right-of-use assets are measured at fair value.
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Where the Group leases out property under the terms of which the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, such
leases are classified as operating leases. Receipts from operating leases are credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
All of the Group’s properties are leased out on an operating lease basis.

k. Provision
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of obligation can be estimated
reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

The effective yield method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating profit income
or profit expense over the relevant period. The effective yield rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts throughout the expected life of the financial instrument, or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective yield rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all
fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective yield rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums or discounts.

m. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.
The company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares; therefore, the diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per
share.

n. Operating segment
The Group has only one operating segment in the UAE.

o. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities relates to Investment Properties.

i. Valuation of investment properties
The Group follows the fair value model under IAS 40 whereby investment property owned for the purpose of generating rental income or
capital appreciation, or both, are fair valued based on valuation carried out by an independent registered valuer in accordance with RICS
Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.
Investment properties are stated at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or in its absence, the most advantageous market
to which the Group has access at that date. The value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
The fair values have been determined by taking into consideration discounted cash flows where the Group has on-going lease
arrangements. In this regard, the Group’s current lease arrangements, which are entered into on an arm’s length basis and which are
comparable to those for similar properties in the same location, have been taken into account.
In case where the Group does not have any on-going lease arrangements, fair values have been determined, where relevant, having regard
to recent market transactions for similar properties in the same location as the Group’s investment properties. These values are adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as property size.
The Group’s management has reviewed the assumptions and methodologies used by the independent registered valuer and, in their
opinion, these assumptions and methodologies appears reasonable as at the reporting date.
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3. Investment properties

3. Investment properties (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Balance at start of the year
Capital expenditure on investment properties

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

357,299,883

407,294,860

5,919,740

866,008

Changes in fair value

(7,161,904)

(47,924,004)

Accrued lease income

(3,213,228)

(2,936,981)

352,844,491

357,299,883

Balance at end of the year
Right-of-use assets

14,300,257

14,735,598

367,144,748

372,035,481

Investment properties as at 31 March, 2022 were valued by CB Richard Ellis, Cavendish Maxwell and Knight Frank who are qualified external
independent property valuation companies and carried out the valuation in accordance with the RICS Valuation Global Standards. Property
valuations are carried out in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards published by the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS”) and are undertaken by appropriately qualified valuers who are members of RICS and who have recent experience in the
locations and categories of the properties being valued. Fair value is estimated based on the Investment Method as described below and
benchmarked to comparable transactions wherever applicable.
For certain investment properties, the valuer has used the Market Approach to value the apartments, where fair value was determined by
taking into consideration market comparable and benchmarked from sale transactions of similar properties.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Sensitivity analysis to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 of the hierarchy (continued)
Significant increases / (decreases) in the ERV (per sqm p.a.) in isolation would result in a significantly higher / (lower) fair value
measurement. Significant increases / (decreases) in the long-term vacancy rate and equivalent yield in isolation would result in
a significantly lower / (higher) fair value measurement. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the ERV (per sqm p.a.) is
accompanied by:
•
•

a similar change in the equivalent yield, and
an opposite change in the long-term vacancy rate

4. Trade and other receivables
As at
31 Mar 2022
USD
Rent receivable
Gross amount receivable
Less: allowance for impairment

Deposits for utilities
Accrued lease income

During the year, Group recommended to refine the valuation accounting approach in determining fair value and move from a net to a gross
valuation (excluding transaction costs) in line with DFSA, IFRS and RICS guidance. Had the investment properties been valued on a net basis
at 31 March 2022 then their value would have been 3.07% lower.

Charge for the year

Investment properties with carrying value of USD 356.1 million (31 March 2021: USD 360.2 million) are mortgaged against bank
borrowings. Depreciation for the year ended 31 March 2022 on right-of-use assets amounted to USD 435,341 (31 March 2021: USD
435,341)

Sensitivity analysis to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 of the hierarchy
The fair value measurement for the investment properties has been categorised as Level 3 based on the inputs to the valuation technique
used except for Remraam which is categorised as Level 2. For all investment properties, the current use of the property is considered to be
its highest and best use. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of investment properties are:
•
•
•

Estimated Rental Value (“ERV”)
Long-term vacancy rate with the exception of fully occupied properties, void periods of 6 months – 12 months were applied for units
that were vacant as at the reporting date, which is over and above 3% - 10% permanent void periods applied on these properties)
Equivalent yield (31 March 2022: 6.5% - 8%; 31 March 2021: 6.5% - 8%)

Other receivables
Total trade and other receivables

5,571,655
(2,163,469)

2,302,958

3,408,186

945,535

945,535

3,332,162

3,099,916

57,857

-

4,335,554

4,045,451

6,638,512

7,453,637

Movement in allowance for impairment
Balance at start of the year
Balance at end of the year

(2,163,469)

(369,754)

79,040

(1,793,715)

(2,084,429)

(2,163,469)

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

5. Prepaid expenses

Advance paid for investments

203,376

-

Prepaid expenses

197,933

349,804

Total prepaid expenses

401,309

349,804

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

13,247

14,915

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at GSO Portal (in AED accounts)
Cash at bank (in USD accounts)

2,129,455

1,184,316

Cash at bank (in AED accounts)

11,363,516

16,567,109

5,524,202

6,841,258

19,030,420

24,607,598

Islamic deposits
Total cash and cash equivalents

90

4,387,387
(2,084,429)

Other Receivables

Under the investment method, fair value is a product of rent and yield derived using comparison techniques. In undertaking the valuation
of properties under this method, an assessment has been made on the basis of a collation and analysis of appropriate comparable
investment, rental and sale transactions, together with evidence of demand within the vicinity of the subject property. With the benefit of
such transactions, yields have been applied to the properties taking into account size, location, terms, covenants and other material factors
at the valuation date.

Accrued lease income of USD 3.2 million (31 March 2021: USD 2.94 million) as at the reporting date, relating to the accounting for
operating lease rentals on a straight line basis has been eliminated from the valuation of investment properties, in order to avoid double
counting of assets and liabilities.

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

Islamic deposits represent funds placed in Emirates Islamic Money Market Fund.
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7. Trade and other payables
As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

4,208,712

9,341,206

Tenants’ security deposits

761,358

771,412

Management fees

614,552

717,895

Payable for investments

214,309

-

Current liabilities:

Sundry creditors

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

9. Islamic financing (continued)

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD
Rent received in advance and unearned income

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries

2,615,880

2,224,540

8,414,811

13,055,053

2,651,071

2,358,246

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had signed a commodity Murabaha facility of USD 176,967,057 (equivalent to AED
650,000,000) on 30 June 2019 with Mashreq Bank which was secured against selected investment properties. The profit margin was 2.65%
above the quarterly EIBOR.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had signed a commodity Murabaha facility of USD 90,000,000 on 14 November 2018
with Standard Chartered Bank which was secured against selected investment properties. The profit margin was 2.15% above the quarterly
LIBOR.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has settled full outstanding amounts of Mashreq Bank and Standard Chartered Bank.
The facilities are payable as follows:

Non-current liabilities:
Tenants’ security deposits

8. Finance cost payable on Islamic financing

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

6,099,920

50,161,776

Contractual cash flows

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

Profit expense payable

-

170,930

Total finance cost payable on Islamic financing

-

170,930

- Less than one year
- Between one and five years
Future finance costs not recognised in the consolidated financial statements
Less: Deferred finance costs (refer note i below)

The balance represents profit expense payable on Murabaha facility from Mashreq bank, for details on the Murabaha facility and profit rate
refer note 9 on Islamic financing.

Net Islamic finance liability – carrying value

222,087,226

155,471,939

228,187,146

205,633,715

(28,611,132)

(10,992,358)

199,576,014

194,641,357

(3,155,965)

(1,167,175)

196,420,049

193,474,180

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

Net Islamic financing liability is presented in these consolidated financial statements as follows:

9. Islamic financing

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has refinanced its existing Islamic finance by entering into a Murabaha facility of USD
200,000,000 with Emirates NBD Bank and Commercial Bank of Dubai on 7th December 2021. The facility consists of tranche A of USD
120M at a profit margin of 2.05% above the quarterly LIBOR and tranche B of GBP equivalent to USD 80M at a profit margin of 1.95% above
the quarterly LIBOR. The Group has hedged the exposure on GBP loan by entering into a cross currency profit rate swap with Emirates NBD
Bank PJSC. The swap is effective from 9th December 2021 and the termination date is 7th December 2026. The swap has a negative fair
value of USD 3,573,036 as on 31 March 2022.

Less than one year
More than one year

-

43,732,824

196,420,049

149,741,356

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

194,641,357

181,628,506

i) This represents the arrangement fees paid for obtaining the Islamic financing facilities
Derivatives subject to offsetting, master netting and any collateral pledged or received are presented below:
As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

76,426,964

-

Emirates NBD Bank PJSC
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
Net derivative financial assets/(liabilities) presented in the statement of financial position

Movement in the Islamic finance during the year is as follows:

As at 1 April

(80,000,000)

-

Repayments during the year

(194,641,357)

(600,000)

(3,573,036)

-

Drawdowns during the year

200,000,000

13,612,851

Movement due to currency revaluation
As at 31 March

92

(423,986)

-

199,576,014

194,641,357
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10. Lease liabilities

12. Property operating expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2022

The Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ from 1 April 2019. The Group has opted for the cumulative catch up approach as permitted by IFRS 16
upon adoption of the new standard. During the first time application of IFRS 16 to operating leases, the right to use the leased assets has
been measured at the amount of lease liability, using the interest rate at the time of first time application.

Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April
Finance cost on lease liability during the period
Lease liability paid during the period
Closing balance of Lease liabilities

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

15,095,511

15,215,323

810,432

809,890

(699,102)

(929,702)

15,206,841

15,095,511

For the year ended 31 March 2022

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2022
USD

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2021
USD

Building managers’ expenses

2,934,296

3,593,884

Utilities

1,493,984

1,298,684

725,581

1,101,108

97,125

117,894

111,740

84,713

Building maintenance expenses
Insurance
Legal and professional fees
Miscellaneous expenses

185,935

28,203

5,548,661

6,224,486

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2022
USD

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2021
USD

Legal and professional fees

287,955

352,661

Board and committee fees

496,719

438,008

Fund administration custodian and related services

189,179

177,286

Miscellaneous expenses

414,831

291,566

1,388,684

1,259,521

Shown as:
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

812,890

699,101

14,393,951

14,396,410

13. General and administrative expenses

11. Share capital
a) Share capital
The authorised share capital of the Group is USD 500,000 divided into 500,000,000 fully paid Ordinary Shares at a nominal value of USD
0.001 per share. The fully paid ordinary shares of the Company are 250,000,000 (31 March 2021: 250,000,000). Pursuant to reduction in
share capital (note 11(b)) and shares buy-back (note 11(c)), the share capital of the Group is USD 250,000 (31 March 2021: USD 250,000).

b) Reduction of capital
During the year ended 31 March 2019, shareholders’ in General Meeting dated 27th November 2018 approved to reduce the issued share
capital of the Company and transfer the same to distributable reserve. Subsequently, shareholders’ in the Annual General Meeting dated
1st July 2020 approved to reduce the issued capital of the Company further and transfer the same to distributable reserve. The purpose of
the distributable reserve is to enable ENBD REIT to maintain consistent dividend payments despite movements in capital values. During the
year the Company transferred all its distributable reserves to the retained earnings (31 March 2021: USD 101,465,373).
The purpose of the special reserve account is for coverage of liabilities outstanding at the time of movement of share capital to the
distributable reserve account. During the year, ENBD REIT paid USD 49,480,648, it also reversed 15,100,000 which was an additional
requirement from SCB with their full settlement it was reversed and the balance in the special reserve account stands at USD 6,063,007 (31
March 2021 USD 70,805,683).

c) Share buy-back and Capital redemption reserve
Following the share capital reduction in 2019, the Company initiated a share buy-back programme for a total number of 4,401,340 shares,
commencing from 21st February 2019 and completed the programme in September 2019. The surplus reserve of USD 962,457 as a result
of the share buy-back programme, was transferred to Capital Redemption Reserve.

d) Hedge reserve

14. Related parties and significant transactions

Related parties of the Group include significant shareholders, key management personnel, directors and businesses which are controlled
directly or indirectly by the significant shareholders or directors or over which they exercise significant management influence. Pricing
policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management and are carried out at arm’s length transaction.
The following are considered related parties of the Group:
Related party

Relationship (basis for being a related party)

Emirates NBD Bank PJSC

Lending Bank

Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited

Fund Manager

Board of Directors (“the Board”)

Directing and making key decisions for the Group

The basis of the fees payable to the related parties are set out below. The fees incurred during the year are disclosed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with amounts outstanding at the reporting date included in trade and other payables.

The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used in cash flow
hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss or directly included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of a non-financial
asset or non-financial liability. The balance of USD 3,149,050 (31 March 2021: Nil) represents the provision on the cross currency profit rate
swap on the basis of the mark to market adjustment of USD 3,573,036 and FX gain on currency revaluation of USD 423,986 on 31 March,
2022.
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14. Related parties and significant transactions (continued)

14. Related parties and significant transactions (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Related party transactions
Management fees (i)
Board fees (ii)
Profit on Islamic deposit (iii)
Islamic deposit (iii)
Fund administration custodian and related services (iv)
Finance cost on Murabaha (v)
Murabaha facility (v)
Arrangement fee paid for Murabaha facility (v)

i.

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2022
USD

For the year
ended
31 Mar 2021
USD

2,540,909

2,813,618

300,000

280,000

36,793

47,471

5,445,140

-

189,179

177,286

669,303

-

100,000,000

-

2,555,000

-

The Group has appointed Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited as the Fund Manager. The following management fee is payable to
the Fund Manager:

Total Net Assets per Fund

Management Fee

On first USD 550 million Net Assets

1.50% of NAV

On next USD 450 million Net Assets

1.25% of NAV

Over USD 1,000 million Net Assets

1.00% of NAV

The Fund Manager is entitled to receive from the Fund a Performance Fee of 10% above a 7% hurdle rate on the annualised total return
to investors calculated on a change in NAV per Share cum-dividend, with a High-water Mark (High-water Mark is the highest NAV from
the date of the incorporation of the Company to the date of calculation of the performance fee) rebased every 12 months upwards only,
provided that no Performance Fee shall be payable in respect of an increase in NAV per Share from an amount below the High-water
Mark up to an amount which is still below or equal to the High-water Mark. No performance fee has been paid or is payable to the Fund
Manager (31 March 2021: Nil).
The Fund Manager is also entitled to receive transaction and development fees from the Fund on the acquisition and development of
investment properties at an agreed rate.
ii. Each director of ENBD REIT is entitled to a remuneration of USD 75,000 per annum. Director fees charged to the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were USD 300,000 (31 March 2021: USD 280,000) and USD Nil was owed to Directors at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2021: USD Nil).
iii. AED 20,000,000 (USD 5,445,140) funds are deposited in the Emirates Islamic Money Market Fund where profit on Islamic deposit is
earned.
iv. The Company has appointed Apex Fund Services (Guernsey) Ltd as the Custodian. The custodian fees are divided into two categories
for each market of investment, namely safekeeping fees and transaction fees. Custodian fees charged to the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 were USD 12,500 (31 March 2021: USD 12,500) and USD Nil was owed as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2021: USD Nil)
The remaining amount under Fund administration and related services relates to Administration agreement and Corporate Secretary
services provided by Apex Fund Services (Dubai) Limited.
v. During the year the Group signed a Murabaha facility of USD 200,000,000 with Emirates NBD and Commercial Bank of Dubai with equal
proportion. Finance cost is calculated at given profit margins above quarterly LIBOR.
The Lending Bank was also paid USD 2,555,000 for arrangement, book running, advisory, structuring & coordinating, investment agency
and security agency fee.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

Balances with related parties
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are placed with the Lending Bank amounting to USD 13,144,472 (31 March 2021: USD 1,217,297).
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has an amount payable to the Fund Manager of USD 626,413 (31 March 2021: USD 717,895).

15. Financial risk and capital management

The Group’s investing activities expose it to various types of risk that are associated with financial instruments and markets in which it
invests. The Group’s approach to some of the most important types of financial risk to which the Group is exposed, including the Group’s
objectives, policies and procedures for managing the risks, are summarized below:

Objectives for managing financial risks
The Group’s objective for managing financial risks is to ensure that shareholder value is created and protected through ongoing
identification, measurement and monitoring of the risks including assessment of the returns to ensure they are commensurate with the
risks taken.

Risk management structure
The Fund Manager is responsible for the identification, measurement and controlling of financial risks. The Investment Committee of the
Group provides the necessary advice and guidance in managing financial risks. The Investment Committee meets on a regular basis with
the Fund Manager to discuss and monitor the Group’s risk exposure.

Concentration of financial risks
In order to avoid excessive risk concentration, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to limit some geographic,
counterparty, security, industry or currency exposures.
The Group’s objectives for capital management are to ensure that there are adequate funds to seize investment opportunities as they arise,
in line with the investment objectives. The Group may borrow for funding investments, provided that, the amount of such outstanding
financing shall not, in the aggregate, exceed 50% of the Gross Asset Value (“GAV”).

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet commitments it has entered into with the Group. The Group’s
main credit risk derives from the possibility of defaults in rental payments by tenants and other receivables.
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date:

Related party transactions
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Maximum exposure to credit risk

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

19,030,420

24,607,598

3,306,350

4,353,721

22,336,770

28,961,319

The Group’s objective for managing credit risk is to ensure that the exposure is limited to acceptable levels in line with the investment
guidelines and risk management processes. The investment decisions under the supervision of the Directors are made on behalf of the
Group by the Fund Manager, advised by the Investment Committee, and they reflect the medium to long-term objectives of the Group.
In determining the provisions, the Group considered the status of the counterparties, status of any recovery procedures and the likelihood
of recovering these amounts. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions. The credit risk exposure is
managed and monitored through regular reviews of the underlying issuers and making assumptions on their credit risks in relation to other
rated issuers. Non-rated securities mainly relate to deposits for utilities and accrued rental income.
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15. Financial risk and capital management (continued)

15. Financial risk and capital management (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Fund Manager monitors the counterparties with whom the Group trades to ensure that they have a sound credit standing and that
they do not expose the Group to unreasonably high exposure to credit risk. As provided for in the Group’s Prospectus, there are specific
limits on each type of investment as a proportion of the NAV of the Group in order to limit the concentration of either counterparty or
investment-type risk.

Reconciliation of the maturity values of the financial liabilities per the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to the contractual cash
flows

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Based on management judgement, an allowance for impairment for expected credit loss of USD 2,084,429 (31 March 2021:
USD 2,163,469) has been recognized as at 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

As at
31 Mar 2022
USD
Total current liabilities per the consolidated statement of financial position
Total non-current liabilities per the consolidated statement of financial position

None of the amounts above are past due nor have their terms been renegotiated.
Add: future finance costs not recognised in the consolidated financial statements (refer to note 9)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises of the following categories:

Add: deferred finance cost excluded in Islamic finance payable (refer to note 9)

Category

Description

Basis for recognising expected credit losses

Performing

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any
past-due amounts.

12-month ECL

Doubtful

Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition

Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired

In default

Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired

Write-off

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the group has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off

Over 5 years
USD

Total
USD
228,187,146

As at 31 March 2022
199,576,014

6,099,920

222,087,226

-

Lease liabilities

15,206,841

812,890

3,338,166

11,055,785

15,206,841

Other financial liabilities

10,430,206

4,206,099

6,224,107

-

10,430,206

225,213,061

11,118,909

231,649,499

11,055,785

253,824,193

Carrying value
USD

Less than 1 year
USD

1 to 5 years
USD

Over 5 years
USD

Total
USD

194,641,357

50,161,776

155,471,937

-

205,633,713

Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities

10,992,358

3,155,965

1,167,175

(4,208,712)

(9,341,206)

253,824,193

226,972,247

Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group
may hold assets denominated in currencies other than its functional currency of US Dollar. The majority of the assets of the Group are
denominated either in US Dollar or in currencies pegged to US Dollar. Therefore the Group is not significantly exposed to currency risk from
such currencies.
The Group’s objective for managing currency risk is to ensure that the assets of the Group in a particular currency are adequate to cover
the corresponding currency liabilities.

The Group seeks to minimize the effects of market risks, being currency and interest rate risks, by using derivative financial instruments to
hedge these risk exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which
provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial
instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a
continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative
purposes.
The table below sets out the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rates with regards to its liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2021: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021
Islamic financing payable (Note 9)

224,153,920

28,611,132

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has refinanced its existing Islamic finance by entering into a Murabaha facility of USD
200,000,000 with Emirates NBD Bank and Commercial Bank of Dubai. The facility consists of tranche A of USD 120M and tranche B of GBP
equivalent to USD 80M. Therefore, Group has exposure to GBP currency on tranche B of the facility.

The tables below show the maturity profiles and the contractual cash flows for the financial liabilities:

Islamic financing payable (Note 9)

226,265,808

Currency risk

The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are adequate liquid resources to meet the obligations under the financial liabilities and
invest in accordance with the investment objectives.

1 to 5 years
USD

57,657,908
166,496,012

Market risk is the risk that the fair value and/or future cash flows of financial instruments will be adversely affected by the movements in
market variables. The key components of market risk that the Group is exposed to are Currency Risk, Equity Price Risk, and Profit Rate Risk.
These are considered in turn below:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The extent of liquidity risk for the
Group is dependent upon the nature of the Group and its investment objectives, which are discussed in detail in the Directors’ Report on
pages 3 and 4.

Less than 1 year
USD

Total per maturity profile

9,227,701
217,038,107

(iii) Market risk

(ii) Liquidity risk

Carrying value
USD

Less: deferred income excluded in maturity profile (refer to note 7)

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

15,095,511

699,101

3,294,865

11,101,545

15,095,511

6,243,023

3,884,777

2,358,246

-

6,243,023

215,979,891

54,745,654

161,125,048

11,101,545

226,972,247

Total
GBP

Total
USD

Islamic finance payable

60,569,352

79,576,014

Total per maturity profile

60,569,352

79,576,014

As at 31 March 2022

The Ordinary Shares of ENBD REIT are in US Dollar.
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15. Financial risk and capital management (continued)

16. Schedule of investment properties

For the year ended 31 March 2022

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Investment properties as at 31 March 2022

(iii) Market risk (continued)

Opening Cost
USD

Additions during
the year
USD

Closing
Cost
USD

Fair value as at
31 Mar 2022
USD

Fair value as at
31 Mar 2021
USD

DHCC 49

39,666,921

113,092

39,780,013

26,967,439

27,093,057

DHCC 25

34,663,109

102,679

34,765,788

20,584,928

21,279,863

Arabian Oryx House

37,078,538

-

37,078,538

17,850,394

20,922,252

Burj Daman (DIFC)

73,165,904

187,785

73,353,689

58,706,594

57,816,642

The investment restrictions provide for limits, such as maximum exposure to a particular country thereby limiting concentration to any one
currency, or investing in collective funds that are, in themselves, well diversified.

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the sensitivity of the Group to movements in the value of its investments in shares or units. The Group is not exposed to
any equity price risk.

Profit rate risk

Remraam (Dubailand)

23,457,367

-

23,457,367

11,778,261

11,262,523

Profit rate risk is the risk that changes in profit rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments of the Group.

Al Thuraya Towers 1

69,711,902

5,516,184

75,228,086

67,524,718

68,634,197

BinGhatti Terraces

41,563,653

-

41,563,653

19,065,946

19,155,827

The Group is exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market profit rates.
The following table sets out the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to profit rate risk as at 31
March 2022:

Within 1 year
USD

Between
1 and 5 years
USD

6,099,920

222,087,226

Over 5 years
USD

Total
Contractual
Cash Flows
USD

Carrying Value
USD

-

228,187,146

199,576,014

The following table sets out the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to profit rate risk as at 31
March 2021:

Within 1 year
USD

Between
1 and 5 years
USD

50,161,776

155,471,937

Over 5 years
USD

Total
Contractual
Cash Flows
USD

Carrying Value
USD

-

205,633,713

194,641,357

Floating rate
Islamic financing payable (gross)

80,463,602

-

80,463,602

69,118,240

66,778,524

23,592,605

-

23,592,605

20,687,335

21,508,229

Uninest

33,698,053

-

33,698,053

19,172,708

22,564,665

South View School

15,579,411

-

15,579,411

21,387,926

20,284,102

Right-of-use asset Souq Extra

Floating rate
Islamic financing payable (gross)

The Edge
Souq Extra

The Group considers that floating rate securities are not materially affected in their fair values by changes in profit rates. However, cash
flows are affected by changes in profit rates of floating rate securities. The sensitivity analysis for the Group shows that an increase in
profit rates of 50bps across Investments and Islamic financing payable would impact NAV by -0.02% (2021: -0.02%). In practice, the actual
movements and sensitivity may vary and the difference could be significant.

Right-of-use asset South View School
Total investment properties

3,925,771

-

3,925,771

3,666,614

3,755,350

11,500,631

-

11,500,631

10,633,645

10,980,250

488,067,467

5,919,740

493,987,207

367,144,748

372,035,481

All investment properties in the portfolio are secured against Islamic financing facility.

17. Fair value hierarchy
The Group is required to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
Level 1 - Quoted market price in an active market for an identical asset or liability.
Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This category includes an asset or liability valued using: quoted market prices in
active markets for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are considered less than active; or
other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.
Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all assets or liabilities where the valuation
technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs could have a significant impact on the asset or
liabilities’ valuation. This category includes assets or liabilities that are valued based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities where
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the assets or liabilities.
The Director’s/Fund Manager appoint independent external valuers to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The fair value measurement for investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation
technique used except for Remraam which is categorised as Level 2 (see note 3).
There were no transfers between, into or out of Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during the year ended 31 March 2021 (31 March 2021: Nil).
Derivative financial liabilities are remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date The carrying amounts of all other Group financial
assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values as at the reporting date.

100

101

ENBD REIT Annual Report 2022

Financial Statements

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

ENBD REIT (CEIC) PLC and its subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

17. Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and input used)
Financial assets/ financial
liabilities

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

Significant unobservable
input(s)

Relationship and sensitivity of
unobservable inputs to fair value

Foreign currency forward
contracts and interest rate
swaps

Discounted cash flow.
Future cash flows are estimated based
on forward exchange rates (from
observable forward exchange rates at
the end of the reporting period) and
contract forward rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk various
counterparties.

N/A

N/A

21. Corresponding figures

Certain corresponding figures have been regrouped / reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in this consolidated financial
statements.

22. Approval of the financial information

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 May 2022.

18. Dividend distribution
During the current year, a final dividend of USD 0.0176 per share amounting to USD 4,400,000 (2.44% of NAV) was declared and approved
on 3rd June 2021 for the period ended 31 March 2021 and paid on 25th July 2021 (31 March 2020: USD 5,100,000). Subsequent to
30th September 2021, an interim dividend of USD 0.0180 per share amounting to USD 4,500,000 (2.65% of NAV) was approved on
23rd November and paid on 28th December 2021. Subsequent to 30th September 2020, an interim dividend of USD 0.0194 per share
amounting to USD 4,850,000 (2.69% of NAV) was declared and approved for the six-month period ended 30th September 2020 and
subsequently paid on 6th January 2021.

19. Loss per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit or loss attributable to Ordinary Shareholders and weighted average
number of Ordinary Shares outstanding. The Group does not have any potential ordinary shares and accordingly basic and diluted earnings
per share are the same.

Loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Group
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic loss per share (USD)

31 Mar 2022
USD

31 Mar 2021
USD

(4,443,419)

(39,449,406)

250,000,000

250,000,000

(0.02)

(0.16)

20. Contingent liabilities and commitments
Operating lease commitments as a lessor
The Group leases out its investment properties. Future minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
As at
31 Mar 2022
USD

As at
31 Mar 2021
USD

Less than one year

23,835,949

24,091,743

Between one and five years

48,709,400

51,798,580

More than five years
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61,502,518

56,844,061

134,047,867

132,734,384
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